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{  letter from the president  } 
Mary Sue coleMan

not since the great Depression has our mission as a public university been as im-
portant, or challenging, as it has been this past year. as the state and the nation 
face these times of economic uncertainty, we remain committed to maintaining 

and strengthening the university of Michigan’s unique environment of teaching, research, 
and leadership.
 Where other universities have been forced to close academic programs and suspend 
construction of new facilities, u-M has been able to move forward through careful plan-
ning and the diligent use and investment of resources.
 as president, this economic climate has given me pause to appreciate more than ever 
the values and strengths of our university. My seven years at Michigan have been built upon 
a depth of experiences in higher education, including tenures at the universities of texas, 
Kentucky, north carolina, new Mexico, and iowa. like u-M, all are public universities; 
and three, like Michigan, are members of the association of american universities, with 
large and robust research enterprises. 
 each of these institutions, with its unique merits, is outstanding. But with our 
breadth and depth, the university of Michigan stands alone. this university is in a different 
league with its national and international standing, its scholarly scope, and most of its 19 
schools ranked among the very best. With our range of academic programs and our culture 
of interdisciplinary cooperation, the opportunities we offer our undergraduate and gradu-
ate students, as well as our faculty, are simply not available at other leading universities.  

 this is the essence of the Michigan Difference.

 preserving what is special about the university of Michigan has been at the forefront 
of our decision-making about the university’s finances. Keeping the u-M strong during 
this tough economic time has been our highest priority. as a leading university, we are 
critical to the future well-being of thousands of young people. and we are critical to the 
rebirth of the state of Michigan as it deals with the refocusing of the auto industry and the 
development of a more entrepreneurial economy. in that sense, we represent a larger soci-
etal purpose that builds on our long-standing contributions in teaching and research.
 the university of Michigan is moving forward because of the leadership of  
our Board of regents and the diligence of our financial team. Morale is high: we are con-
founding people both here and nationally with our financial stability. this solidity, along 
with our ability to recruit and retain faculty and staff, as well as attract record numbers of 
students, is the foundation for our future. 
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 four activities underlie our continuing stability and strong performance.

 first, we have aggressively focused on what the corporate world knows as market 
presence. We are seeing results in all aspects of our operations: strong admissions; steady 
growth in research funding, which we anticipate will continue and be augmented by federal 
stimulus dollars; contributions to economic development activities with genuine impact 
throughout our region; successful faculty hiring at a time when few universities are extending 
offers; and productive faculty, as evidenced by accomplishments such as membership in the  
national academies and appointments to prominent national leadership positions.
 Second, we are generating funding at a time when revenue growth in most organiza-
tions is extremely challenging, if it occurs at all. our research funding stands at record levels, 
with a notable increase in industry awards. in fy 2009, total research expenditures exceeded 
$1 billion for the first time, a milestone that highlights the university’s role as an economic 
resource benefiting the entire state. Support from our donors has reached historic highs  
and continues, even with a downturn that surely is affecting their resources. We are offering 
more classes in spring and summer terms; treating more patients throughout our health 
System; and seeing more students transfer from community colleges.
 third, we are deeply committed to controlling costs. We have asked people 
and programs across the institution to make sacrifices, and the savings are signifi-
cant. our efforts have included changes in employee benefits, such as health care and 
institutional retirement contributions for new employees; discontinuing opera-
tion of our public television station; being more deliberate in how we use and allocate 
space on campus; reducing energy usage; and asking our schools, colleges, and units to  
accept budget cuts. 
 and lastly, the university’s cash and balance sheet management is the envy of high-
er education. We have an excellent bond rating that represents an external assessment of  
confidence in our market strength, financial position, and resource management. our  
investment and spending rule strategy has been prudent and is sustaining us at a time when 
other universities are being forced to make drastic cuts.
 the university’s executive team and i are determined not merely to hold our own 
as an institution, but to advance among our peers on a global scale. We anticipate more 
budget challenges in the near future, but building on our strengths, we remain confident in 
the university’s ability to lead the way forward. 
 as our society works through this financial crisis, there has been much discussion 
about the source of our nation’s economic strengths and potential for growth. an educated, 
innovative workforce is critical to this future, and the university of Michigan—in ann 
arbor, flint, and Dearborn—is on firm footing to prepare tomorrow’s engineers, artists, 
lawyers, economists, scientists, and entrepreneurs. 
 this commitment is amplified by our collaboration with Michigan State university 
and Wayne State university as partners in the university research corridor. the urc is 
a testament to the power of research universities to develop intellectual capital that both 
stimulates the economy and improves our quality of life.
 higher education is the source of the people and ideas that are the driving force for 
our collective future as a region and nation. We must work together to protect, sustain, and 
grow the university of Michigan, because more than ever, our work matters—in teaching, 
research, health care, and in service to our state and the world.

Sincerely,

Mary Sue coleman | President
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report from the  
{  chief financial officer  } 

tiMothy p. SlottoW

i’m very pleased to report that the university of Michigan continues to be financially 
healthy, despite the difficult economic conditions facing the state and the nation. 
our disciplined budget approach carefully balances the university’s need to remain 

competitive with a challenging  economic environment. 
 our 34,000 faculty and staff share an unyielding  focus on the university’s core 

missions and are committed to finding innovative ways to control costs and manage re-
sources more productively. as a result, we continue to have the resources to make strategic 
investments in the facilities, programs, and people that enable the institution to remain 
one of the best public research universities in the world.

Because of these collective efforts, the university continues to maintain the highest 
credit ratings from both Standard & poor’s (aaa) and Moody’s investor Services (aaa). 
these ratings are important indicators of our strong financial health and outlook and are 
particularly encouraging in light of the tumultuous economy we’ve faced for several years. 
it is impressive that the university is one of only three public universities in the country to 
maintain these highest possible ratings.

in summary, the university’s total net assets (assets less liabilities) decreased by $2.1 
billion in fy 2009 to $8.7 billion. this decrease is primarily the result of investment 
losses of $1.9 billion, mostly in the long term portfolio, the investment pool for the 
university’s endowment, which was impacted by the global financial crisis. the univer-
sity’s endowment spending rule, which is designed to insulate operations from volatility 
in the capital markets, cushioned the impact of the investment losses on the university’s 
operating budget and there was no decrease in the endowment distributions to support 
the university’s operations in fy 2009. at June 30, 2009, the endowment totaled $6.0 
billion, down from $7.6 billion the year before. however, it is important to note that 
primarily due to generous new gifts from alumni and friends and transfers the size of the 
endowment decreased by only 21 percent despite net investment losses of 23 percent 
and a distribution of $244 million from the endowment to support operations. Despite 
the significant volatility of investment returns, the university’s long-term diversified in-
vestment strategy continues to provide predictable support for university operations as 
well as endowment growth over time as demonstrated by our five- and ten-year average  
annual investment results of 7 percent and 9 percent, respectively. 
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Health System and 
Other Clinical Activities 

44% [$2,221M]

Other 2% [$120M]

Other Auxiliary Units 
4% [$224M]

Distributions from  
Investments 6% [$281M]

Private Gifts 2% [$97M]

Non-Government Sponsored 
Programs 3% [$148M]

Government Sponsored 
Programs 15% [$774M]

State Appropriations 8% [$374M]

Net Student Tuition and 
Fees 16% [$826M]

Distributions from  
Investments 8% [$208M]

Private Gifts 3% [$97M]

Non-Government Sponsored 
Programs 5% [$148M]

Government Sponsored 
Programs 28% [$774M]

State Appropriations 14% [$374M]

Net Student Tuition and 
Fees 30% [$826M]

Other 4% [$120M]

Other Auxiliary Units 
8% [$224M]

OPERATING ACTIVITIES | Total Revenue $5,065 Million

OPERATING ACTIVITIES EXCLUDING HEALTH SYSTEM AND 
OTHER CLINICAL ACTIVITIES |  Total Revenue $2,771 Million
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the university’s long-term investment strategy combined 
with aggressive cost containment, successful fund-raising, moderate 
tuition increases, and relentless protection and enhancement of the 
world-class quality of u-M’s research, teaching, and clinical care will 
pave the way for our future. in the following sections, i will discuss 
the important contributors to the university’s overall financial health 
to provide context to the accompanying financial statements.   

reVenue DiVerSification
revenue diversification has long been an important strategy for the 
university to achieve financial stability in light of unpredictable eco-
nomic cycles. in the 1960s, for example, almost 80 percent of the 
university’s general fund revenues came from state appropriations, 
compared to the projected 22 percent in the fy 2010 general fund 
budget. the current mix of revenue can be seen on the charts located 
on page 4, which show the fy 2009 operating revenue sources with 
and without the health System and other clinical activities.

the general funD operating  
BuDget challenge
although state appropriations have declined significantly since fy 
2002, support from the state of Michigan remains an integral part 
of the university’s strength. State appropriations have decreased $42 
million, or 10 percent, from $416 million in fy 2002 to $374 mil-
lion in fy 2009. in contrast, if appropriations had grown at the level 
of the consumer price index, our state appropriations would have 
been $114 million higher in fy 2009. to put the state’s current sup-
port in perspective, it is useful to consider that in a stable economic 
environment, it would take an additional endowment of approxi-
mately $7 billion to generate a revenue stream that would equal the 
current level of support.  

Moving forward, our budget continues to be a challenge. We 
need to balance our commitment to academic excellence and ac-
cess against our ongoing cost containment efforts and the need to 
invest in our future, all against the backdrop of the state’s uncertain 
financial circumstances. in adopting the budget for fy 2010, we 
anticipated a state appropriation of $363 million, which reflects a  
3 percent reduction from the amount we received in fy 2009. State 
appropriations for fy 2009 and fy 2010 are buffered by one-time 
federal stimulus support and we are planning for possible significant 
reductions in fy 2011 and fy 2012.  

the university’s deans, directors, faculty, and staff have been 
focused and diligent in reducing and reallocating $22 million in 
recurring general fund expenditures from the ann arbor campus 
budget for the coming year. this is in addition to the $135 million 
of recurring cost reductions achieved in the general fund over the 
previous six years. 

By focusing on innovative solutions and through ingenuity 
and hard work, we have been able to limit tuition increases. the 
approved ann arbor campus budget for fy 2010 includes a rela-
tively moderate increase in tuition rates of 5.6 percent for both resi-
dent and nonresident undergraduates and most graduate programs. 
this budget also includes $118 million in centrally funded financial 

aid, the largest investment in financial aid in the university’s his-
tory. Within that, centrally awarded financial aid for undergraduates 
is increasing by nearly 12 percent, which will help preserve access 
for our most financially vulnerable undergraduate students. the  
approved Dearborn campus budget includes a 6.7 percent increase 
in undergraduate tuition, a 3 percent increase in graduate tuition, 
and a nearly 7 percent increase in institutional financial aid. at uM-
flint, the approved budget includes a 6.5 percent increase in under-
graduate tuition, a 4.9 percent increase in graduate program tuition, 
and an 8.5 percent increase in institutional financial aid. 

in fy 2010, many of our students will also see fewer loans and 
more grant aid in the form of more generous pell grants, increases 
in the american opportunity tax credit, and more money for our 
work-study program.  it is also noteworthy that the average rate of 
growth in our tuition during the past five years has been among the 
lowest of the public universities in the state of Michigan.

the north caMpuS reSearch proJect 
in June 2009, the university completed its purchase of the former 
pfizer pharmaceutical research complex adjacent to the universi-
ty’s current north campus.  this acquisition of 174 acres and 30 
buildings was funded primarily with health System resources and  
provides a springboard for new discoveries, job creation, and educa-
tional opportunities—an important investment for the university’s 
future.  Known collectively as the north campus research complex 
(ncrc), the nearly 2 million square feet of sophisticated laboratory 
facilities and administrative space acquired could expand the univer-
sity’s research capacity by 10 percent.

this strategic purchase will save the university both time and 
money over the long term compared with the cost of building new 
research facilities.  the ncrc is particularly beneficial for the uni-
versity’s growing research activities in health, biomedical sciences, 
and other disciplines, which have been challenged in recent years by 
lack of research space.  this investment also results in significant en-
vironmental benefits since the acquired buildings and their high-end 
research space will be preserved and utilized instead of demolished 
and transported to a landfill.  the university will also use its multi-
faceted environmental programs to benefit the ncrc. 

other phySical plant iMproVeMentS,  
SuStainaBility, anD proDuctiVity
it is important that we continue investing in our future by carefully 
choosing which facilities should be renovated or replaced. the insti-
tution’s facilities serve a wide range of needs, including everything 
from providing patient care to academic needs.

to support this effort, the university has invested an average 
of $396 million per year, over the past decade, for renovation and 
replacement of buildings and related infrastructure. fy 2009 was no 
exception as the university completed 286 projects across campus, 
an investment of $760 million. Many facilities to support the uni-
versity’s academic, research, patient care, and athletic functions have 
recently been completed or are currently under construction to meet 
the university’s changing needs. 
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two of the largest construction projects in university history 
are continuing with the north Quad residential and academic com-
plex, the university’s first new residence hall on the ann arbor campus 
in 40 years, and replacement of the c.S. Mott children’s hospital and 
Women’s hospital facility. in fy 2009, completed projects include 
the alumni Memorial hall Museum of art addition and renovation, 
the  new Stephen M. ross School of Business, a new student housing  
facility for the flint campus, and the comprehensive renovation of 
Mosher-Jordan residence hall, which also includes the new hill 
Dining center. 

the athletic Department, through sound financial manage-
ment and additional revenue sources such as those from the Big ten 
network and donor contributions, continues to make significant 
investments in its facilities. the renovation of Michigan Stadium, 
home to the football team since 1927, continues, with completion 
scheduled before the 2010 season begins. construction is also con-
tinuing on the al glick field house, a new indoor practice field for 
the football program, and a new 18,000-square-foot wrestling center 
is under construction. 

the university is focused on improving usage of its instruc-
tional, research, and administrative space. Space utilization efforts  
include a change to centrally scheduled classrooms for all general 
fund buildings, targeted reporting on space and utility costs by build-
ing, and standards for office size and energy efficiency for all new and 
renovated buildings.

planet Blue is a three-year, campus-wide effort to cut utility 
costs and increase recycling.  the university spends more than $100 
million a year on utilities and planet Blue aims to cut those costs by 
10 percent through a combined approach that includes energy-saving 
technologies, building upgrades, and engaging faculty, staff, and stu-
dents in the program through an education and outreach program. 
Some of the energy-saving actions undertaken by the planet Blue ini-
tiative include occupancy sensors for lighting, scheduling changes to 
heating and cooling systems, and modifications to water faucets in 
restrooms. planet Blue is part of the campus-wide energy and envi-
ronmental initiative that was launched in 2007. the initiative’s an-
nual report is available online at www.oseh.umich.edu/reporting.html. 

our cost containment and productivity improvement efforts 
to date have been paying off, thanks in part to leveraging technology 
and streamlining administrative processes. over the past five years, 
the university’s general fund expenditure growth rate has been below 
the measure of inflation most appropriate for universities, the higher 
education price index (hepi). the highest growth item during this 
time period among general fund expenditures has been scholarships 
and fellowships, reflecting our ongoing commitment to affordability 
and accessibility. and, the university’s general fund expenditures per 
student credit hour (net of the scholarships and fellowships the 
university provides) grew at an annual rate of 2.1 percent between 
fy 2003 and fy 2008, when the hepi grew at an annual rate of 4.3 
percent and the u.S. consumer price index (cpi) grew at an annual 
rate of 3.1 percent. 

 refer to page 13 for more information about the university’s 
increased productivity and strategic cost containment programs.

controlling health care coStS
organizations across the country continue to be challenged by esca-
lating costs of employee and retiree benefits. large employers report 
a lower rate of annual increase averaging about 8 percent over the 
past year, down from previous averages as high as 12 percent. Still, 
the cost growth is an ever-present challenge, with total university 
health care spending for employees and retirees reaching almost 
$283 million in fy 2009. 

During the past fiscal year, the university drew upon the com-
bined expertise of top clinical and health policy faculty and financial  
experts to design a new health benefits premium structure. effective 
in January 2010, the new model will increase the overall contribu-
tion toward health care coverage made by employees, dependents, 
and retirees. a system of salary bands for active employees helps  
determine the contribution amount to lessen the impact on lower 
paid employees. phased in over two years, these changes will provide 
a reduction in health care expenses of more than $31 million annu-
ally once fully implemented in 2011. prevention, early intervention, 
and wellness also help to reduce the pressures on the health care 
system and promote overall control of costs. 

the university’s health and wellness effort, known as 
Mhealthy, addresses these important factors. Mhealthy offers 
a spectrum of programs designed to support healthy lifestyles.   
During fy 2009, Mhealthy completed the first university-wide 
health risk assessment, with more than 17,500 faculty and staff 
completing an online health risk questionnaire and participating in 
a wellness screening at sites located on all u-M campuses and in 
the u-M health System. this new data gives the university a rich 
opportunity to understand our greatest community health risks in 
ways never before possible, and to use the data to design targeted 
programs and interventions that invest in health improvement and 
thereby reduce the costs incurred by the university’s health plans.

the university-managed prescription drug program contin-
ues to contribute to savings in the clinical realm, with a generic drug 
dispensing rate of just over 71 percent of prescriptions filled in fy 
2009, up from 68 percent in the previous fiscal year and higher than 
the national average. each 1 percent increase in the u-M rate of 
generic drug dispensing results in a savings of nearly $500,000 in 
reduced medication and co-pay costs. 

the enDoWMent
our long-term diversified investment strategy is designed to maxi-
mize total return, while our spending rule policy is designed to 
protect and grow the endowment corpus in real terms and provide 
dependable support for operations. the financial market turmoil 
and large loss of wealth in global financial markets that followed 
the fall of lehman Brothers in September 2008 exceeded any since 
the great Depression. this resulted in broad-based losses across the 
university’s public and private equity and equity-like investments, 
with large losses occurring in areas that had experienced the greatest 
gains in recent years, such as real estate, energy, and other alterna-
tive investments. Despite the losses in fy 2009, these assets remain 
the university’s highest performing investments over longer time  
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periods. fixed income investments in the university’s long-term pool 
performed in line with expectations and proved to be a stabilizing 
factor on the overall investment portfolio.

the long term portfolio’s -23 percent return in fy 2009 
follows a 6 percent return in fy 2008 and a 26 percent return in 
fy 2007. the long term portfolio’s annualized five-year return of  
7 percent was 2 percentage points above the custom market bench-
mark designed to capture the university’s long-term diversified  
investment strategy and nearly 8 percentage points over the undi-
versified benchmark consisting of major equity and fixed income 
indices in an 80/20 ratio. the return of the S&p 500 stock index 
was -2.2 percent over the same five year period. 

the table above shows the endowment’s favorable investment 
performance relative to its benchmarks over longer time periods and 
its ability to support operations over the long term. 

the university’s endowment spending rule smoothes the im-
pact of volatile capital markets by providing for annual distributions 
of 5 percent of the moving average fair value of the endowment. 
effective July 1, 2006, the moving average period was extended 
from three years to four years, and was extended by one quarter each 
subsequent quarter until it reached seven years at June 30, 2009. 
this change was enacted to further reduce distribution volatility, 
as well as to better preserve and grow the endowment corpus over 

time.  the spending rule, along with the growth of the endowment,  
allowed for distributions to support operations of $244 million in 
fy 2009, for a total of $1.0 billion over the past five years. 

the payout from our nearly 7,000 separate endowment 
funds enables us to serve a diverse population, ranging from patients 
in our health System to students. for example, approximately $1.5 
billion, or 24 percent, of our $6.0 billion endowment is restricted 
for use by our health System, where nearly 1.8 million patient visits 
take place each year. the portion of the endowment available for 
university operations supports the education of more than 57,000 
students. about 19 percent of our total endowment, or $1.15 bil-
lion, has been set aside for student aid, with nearly 80 percent of 
our undergraduate students who are Michigan residents receiving 
some form of financial aid, which includes grants, work-study, and 
loans. endowment income also provides key support to the univer-
sity’s research efforts, which have made countless contributions to 
our global society in areas ranging from medicine and law to the arts 
and sciences. the average effective annual spending rate from our 
endowment over the last 10 years, including spending rule payouts 
and withdrawals from funds functioning as endowment, primarily 
for strategic capital investment, was 6.5 percent.

 
the health SySteM
the health System, which integrates the clinical operations of  
the hospitals and health centers, Medical and nursing Schools, 
and Michigan health corporation under the direction of the uni-
versity’s executive vice president for medical affairs, had a solid year 
financially despite the economic times, and continues to receive na-
tional recognition for its academic and clinical excellence. We take 
great pride in the fact that the hospitals and health centers have 
experienced 13 years of positive financial margins, while also im-
proving the quality and safety of the care we deliver to patients. 

in fy 2009, the hospitals and health centers achieved an 
operating margin of 1 percent ($18.5 million) on revenues of $1.8 
billion. this smaller-than-expected margin reflects the strains of a 
difficult economy, an increase in patient care for those covered by 
government insurers, and a rise in uncompensated care provided to 
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North Campus Research Complex MHealthy wellness screening

 
Long Term Portfolio

U-M’s Benchmark

Equity/Fixed Income
Index (80/20)

Return for  
twelve-month  
period ended  

June 30, 2009
 

-23.4%

-18.1%

-21.5%

Annualized  
three-year  

return
 

  0.8%

 -0.5%

 -4.7%

Annualized  
five-year  

return
 

  7.2%

  5.1%

-0.3%

inVeStMent perforMance
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the uninsured and underinsured. that said, the continued achieve-
ment of a positive operating margin in this past year stands out from 
most other health care systems in the state and is a testament to 
the efforts of staff who work constantly to redesign operations for  
better efficiency and lower cost. the positive margin allows us to 
fund critical facilities and programs that will enhance patient care 
for a growing patient population, as well as research and educa-
tion. these include the newly acquired north campus research 
complex, the new c.S. Mott children’s hospital and Women’s  
hospital, which will open in 2012, and the expansion of the Kellogg  
eye center and Brehm Diabetes center, which will open in 2010. 

even within existing facilities, capital projects such as a 
new observation unit and new inpatient beds in existing areas 
of the university hospital, and advanced medical imaging equip-
ment, continue to expand our capacity to serve patients and ensure 
their safety. as we look to the future, the north campus research 
complex presents a transforming opportunity to expand and align  
biomedical research capabilities at the Medical School and other ar-
eas of the university, and to consolidate administrative functions that 
currently occupy leased space outside our campus environment. 

With the Medical School now among the top 10 in the na-
tion in research funding from the national institutes of health, the 
timing for this purchase could not be better. philanthropy directed 
toward the health System continues to be very strong and supports 
our clinical, biomedical research, and medical education missions in 
many ways. in fy 2009, major gifts included a new $22 million gift 
from retail pioneer a. alfred taubman to further endow the institute 
he founded in fy 2008 with an original $22 million gift.  

financial controlS
We are continuing our efforts to leverage best practices from the 
Sarbanes-oxley act through our annual financial stewardship and  
internal controls certification process, which is required for all deans 
and vice presidents at the institution. this year, we added cash handling 
and journal entry processes to the annual certification, which already 
includes other key risk areas such as information technology security, 
employment, purchasing card controls, and conflicts of interest. We  
are also providing a variety of tools and aids to units across campus  
such as web-based trend and exception reporting capabilities to help 
support management oversight. Beyond that, we developed written 
documentation templates to clearly define the key control points and 
procedures associated with our major financial-related processes. 

concluSion
it is, once again, satisfying to receive an unqualified opinion from 
the university’s independent financial auditors. this opinion, found 
on page 35, signifies that the financial statements present fairly the 
financial position of the university.  included on page 34 is my  
certification of management’s responsibility for the preparation, in-
tegrity, and fair presentation of the university’s financial statements.

i encourage you to read Management’s Discussion and analy-
sis, beginning on page 36. it provides the details of the university’s  
financial strength, prudent financial policy, and most importantly, 
the capability and commitment to sustain the highest level of excel-
lence in fulfilling the university’s mission for many decades to come.

timothy p. Slottow   
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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this has been an extraordinary fiscal year, beginning in a time of excitement 
as we approached the final months of the Michigan Difference campaign,  
and ending with significant economic challenges. in spite of the severe 

downturn, 115,370 donors made gifts totaling $265,787,374 this year. 
 our enormously successful Michigan Difference campaign that began in  
fy 2000 with a goal of raising $2.5 billion ended December 31, 2008, receiv-
ing a record $3.2 billion from 372,931 donors, the most raised by a public  
university at the time. these donors transformed the u-M, supporting students,  
faculty, 22 buildings and facilities, programs, and research. their gifts are already  
at work.
 Due to the passion and foresight of donors BarBara and freDericK erB  

(BBa ’47), peter Wege (hllD ’07), and  DonalD grahaM (BSeie ’55, MSe ’56, hDeng 

’09), sustainability is a focus of study and research university-wide.  a new masters level  
program between the college of engineering and the School of natural resources  
and environment offers students an innovative course of study. these donor- 
supported initiatives fund a multi-disciplinary approach to the topic of sustainability.
 the life Sciences institute, filled with more than 350 researchers, has tak-
en a prominent place on campus. paul (aB ’74) and SuSan (BSn ’74, phD ’82) MeiS-

ter named the directorship to honor president Mary Sue coleman, a scientist and  
a champion of the institute.  
 the health System transformation encompasses facilities, programs, profes-
sorships, and research. the first of its kind, the Depression center brings together  
comprehensive clinical care, research, and education within the rachel upJohn  

BuilDing. the new c.S. Mott chilDren’S hoSpital anD WoMen’S hoSpital  
will provide unparalleled care. D. Dan Kahn funded collaborative research  
into cardiovascular disease by physicians, scientists, and engineers working in  
biomedicine and bioengineering at u-M and technion university, israel.  
DeloreS and WilliaM BrehM (BS ’50, MS ’52) created a new center for type 1 diabetes 
research housed in the greatly expanded Kellogg eye center. research to battle  
disease received a powerful impetus with funding from a. alfreD tauBMan (hllD 

’91) for the tauBMan MeDical reSearch inStitute and tauBMan ScholarS  
prograM. all areas of the health System will benefit from the 99 endowed professor- 
ships donors created, bringing the total number of professorships in the health  
System to 163.

report from the  

 {  Vice president for Development  } 
Jerry a. May
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 on central campus, for the first time geralD r.  forD School of puBlic  

policy students and faculty are together in one building, Joan anD SanforD Weill 

hall—studying, meeting, and attending presentations by top public policy leaders.   
at the Stephen M. roSS School of BuSineSS, a striking new building has made  
possible an entirely new way of teaching and learning. interactive classrooms and  
meeting spaces have brought students and faculty together in a way that can only be 
described as revolutionary. and speaking of revolutionary, the Museum of art with its 
Maxine anD Stuart franKel anD the franKel faMily Wing has taken a bold step  
by opening the facility to visitors in innovative ways. Multiple entrances encourage  
students to walk through and experience the greatly expanded exhibit spaces, and 
perhaps discover a piece of art they might not have otherwise seen. 
 Donors have transformed public spaces that the community as well as the uni-
versity can enjoy. the Matthaei Botanical garDenS anD nicholS arBoretuM 
created new exhibits and spaces for visitors of all ages. the natural history Museum 
has a state-of-the-art planetarium projector. the WilliaM e. upJohn exhiBit Wing 
of  the KelSey MuSeuM of archaeology makes it possible to exhibit far more of 
their astounding collection and provide greater educational opportunities.
 on north campus, the charleS r. Walgreen, Jr. DraMa center provides  
performance, rehearsal, and meeting space, as well as office space for faculty members. 
StaMpS auDitoriuM provides a beautiful central venue for classes, performances,  
and presentations. the college of engineering’s new facilities span disciplines from 
computer science to biomedical engineering to nanofabrication, providing classroom 
and research space, including space for research already benefiting the state’s econo-
my through new ventures.
 the top campaign priority for uM-flint was to increase the number of stu-
dent scholarships. Donors created 94 new scholarships, which helped contribute to 
the 4,400 awards made to students during this time. in addition, donors supported 
faculty and student research, as well as travel, through 28 new funds. 
 on the Dearborn campus, 13,000 donors gave more than $45 million, 10  
percent more than the original $40 million goal. one major campaign success had  
an impact far beyond the Dearborn campus into K-12 schools: the center for  
Mathematics education worked with Wayne county schools to implement a new 
mathematics program, “algebra for all,” that helps teachers improve their math 
teaching skills and students improve their algebra skills. 
 every area of the university of Michigan has been touched by the success of 
the campaign, all of it made possible by private support from those who believe in this 
great university. Donors have made the Michigan Difference.

Jerry a. May | Vice President for Development
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the Michigan Difference

{  campaign Summary  }

caMpaign totalS  

Programs/Research $ 1,359,366,996

Faculty Support $ 318,898,038

Buildings $ 478,445,837

Student Support $ 545,329,149

New Bequests $ 498,693,083

Total Raised $ 3,200,733,103

% of Campaign Goal 128%

50+ years 
 

 

40 – 49 years 

 

Under 39 years

By age – philanthropy  
acroSS generationS 

61%

19%

20%

Number of donors who 
gave to the campaign

Number of donors who 
gave to U-M for the  
first time—enough to fill 
the Big House twice!

372,931

212,242

Support: aluMni anD BeyonD

Number of donors  
who are alumni

Non-alumni donors,  
including parents, 
sports fans, patients, 
and patrons of the arts

firSt faculty anD  
Staff caMpaign

+ 16,898 faculty, staff, and retirees gave  $165 million

+ 42% of all U-M retirees gave, contributing $84+ million

enDoWMentS

+ Donors gave $923 million for the endowment

+ 191 new endowed professorships, bringing the  
total number to 471

+ 2,045 endowed scholarship funds, doubling the  
number of endowed scholarship accounts to 4,530

+ Of the 6,972 endowed funds in the endowment,  
65% are designated for student support

+ 257 new endowed research funds

Donor challengeS

President Mary Sue Coleman’s Donor  
Challenges focused on the highest priorities

Professorships: Donors created 21 new professorships 
Gifts + pledges + match = $42 million

Undergraduate Need-Based Support:  
Gifts + pledges + match = $72.6 million

Graduate and Professional Student Support:  
Gifts + pledges + match = $60 million

In January 2009, President Coleman created the  
President’s Challenge for Global Education to encourage 
funding for global study by Michigan students. To provide 
long-term funding, gifts of $25,000 and above creating  
an endowed fund will be matched $1 for every $2 given. 
The challenge continues until $10 million in private gifts  
is raised. 

57%

43%

11
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the Michigan Difference

{  campaign Summary  }
BuilDingS anD facilitieS

Donors funded 22 projects, of which 14 were completed as of June 30, 2009.

Stephen M. Ross 
School of Business 
Building

The Museum of Art 
and the Maxine and 
Stuart Frankel and the 
Frankel Family Wing

central campus

William E. Upjohn  
Exhibit Wing of the 
Kelsey Museum,  
under construction

Law School Renovation 
and Expansion, ground-
breaking fall 2009Joan and Sanford 

Weill Hall, Gerald R. 
Ford School of Public 
Policy

School of Public 
Health Crossroads 
and Research Tower

Stanford Lipsey 
Student Publications 
renovation

The J. Ira and Nicki 
Harris Family Football 
Locker Room

Junge Family  
Champions Center 
and Mortenson  
Family Plaza

Wilpon Baseball and 
Softball Complex

Stephen M. Ross 
Academic Center

athletic campus

Al Glick Field House, 
under construction

Michigan Wrestling 
Center, under  
construction

Michigan Stadium 
expansion,  
under construction

Basketball Player  
Development Center, 
in design

The Charles R. 
Walgreen, Jr. Drama 
Center and Arthur  
Miller Theatre

north campus

The Robert H. Lurie 
Nanofabrication Facility

Computer Science and 
Engineering Building

Ann and Robert H. 
Lurie Biomedical  
Engineering Building

t

t

The Depression Center 
at the Rachel Upjohn 
Building

Medical campus

C.S. Mott Children’s 
Hospital and Women’s 
Hospital, under con-
struction

The Kellogg Eye Center 
and the Brehm Tower, 
under construction

t
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{  cost containment }
reDucing expenSeS toDay to free up reSourceS for toMorroW

the university of Michigan has long been 
engaged in a disciplined program of strategic 
cost containment. these successful initia-
tives are central to u-M’s ability to remain 
accessible to students from all economic 
backgrounds while maintaining the breadth 
and quality of the programs it offers. Sound 
financial management has helped u-M 
avoid the across-the-board cuts being made 
at other universities today. 

in 2003, faced with steadily declining 
support from the state and rapidly rising 
costs in such areas as energy and health care, 
the university stepped up efforts to control 
costs. over the next six years, u-M aggres-
sively cut more than $135 million in recur-
ring costs from the general fund budget—the 
budget that supports our core educational 
operation—and reallocated savings to the 
university’s highest priorities.

today, strategic cost containment is 
more necessary than ever, and u-M is ramp-
ing up efforts to meet this challenge.

StepS taKen Since 2003
energy efficiency
u-M has invested in large systems such as re-
gional chillers and in energy-saving measures 
at the building level, including more efficient 
windows and laboratory fume hoods. it has 
also encouraged behavioral changes among 
community members by installing room oc-
cupancy sensors to shut off lights, low-flow 
faucets, and water-saving toilets. 

as a result, despite growth in u-M’s 
building square footage and the number of 
people who work, study, and live on the ann 
arbor campus, total energy use for buildings 
and transportation in fy 2008 decreased 7.5 
percent from its record high in fy 2006. 

health insurance benefits strategies
health benefits are a major cost driver for 
large employers, with annual costs increas-
ing 8 percent to 10 percent nationally in 
recent years.  

to address rising costs, u-M adopted new 
strategies for medical plan co-premium shar-
ing that are more in line with peers. reduc-
ing the u-M-paid portion of health insurance  
premiums saves the university an estimated 
$24 million annually.

u-M also encouraged employees to use 
generic prescription drugs rather than brand 
names, established a separate prescription drug 
plan for employees, and negotiated a new sin-
gle pharmacy benefit manager contract.

Because of these steps, u-M’s increase in 
general fund expenditures for health insurance 
benefits has been about half the national aver-
age, 5.1 percent annually since 2002.

purchasing practices
a streamlined procurement system and more 
favorable rates with preferred vendors through 
its Strategic Supplier program and university-
wide contracts have resulted in millions of 
dollars in savings for computer equipment, 
food, materials, repairs, and supplies. 

it-enhanced innovations
units across campus have leveraged technol-
ogy to reduce costs and improve performance. 

here are a few examples:
•	 Undergraduate	 Admissions	 saves	 nearly	

300,000 pieces of paper annually with 
online enrollment applications.  

•	 Students	 now	 are	 matched	 electronically	
with scholarship award criteria, and student 
grades are posted online, replacing more 
costly paper-based, staff-intensive systems.

•	 Many	units	use	web-based	technology		to	re-
duce print and mailing costs.  for example, 
more than 80 percent of u-M employees 
who use direct deposit choose to forgo paper 
pay stubs, saving $340,000 in postage and 
$70,000 on pre-printed forms annually.

increased staff productivity plus  
quality improvements
units have consolidated job responsibilities 
and are working more productively while 
enhancing quality.  the total number of 
general fund full-time equivalent employees 
has increased only 3 percent over the past six 
years while student enrollment has increased 
by more than 5 percent. u-M’s volume of 
research expenditures has expanded by some 
34 percent since fy 2003 to a record high of 
$1 billion in fy 2009.

3.5

3.0

2.5

2.0

1.5

1.0

0.5

0.0

3.22 3.03 3.19 2.71 2.60

FY08FY07FY06FY05FY04

energy uSe*
Normalized to Population and Building Square Footage 
(In BTUs per person per square foot)

Source: Utilities and Plant Engineering, Annual Utilities Purchases

* Energy use calculations do not reflect inefficiencies related to off-campus production of 

  electricity that was purchased for the Ann Arbor campus.
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in addition, between fy 2003 and  
fy 2008:
•	 General	 fund	 expenditures	 per	 student	

credit hour grew at a slower rate than the 
consumer price index.

•	 Student	credit	hours	per	faculty/staff	full-
time equivalent increased 5.3 percent.

•	 U-M’s	 six-year	graduation	rate	 increased	
from 85.2 percent to 88 percent.

More efficient use of space and facilities
in 2007, u-M launched a comprehen-
sive Space utilization initiative to improve 
the use of classroom, research, and office  
space, thereby minimizing the expansion of 
facilities that are operated using tuition and 
taxpayer dollars (i.e., excluding facilities op-
erated by the health System, housing, and 
intercollegiate athletics, and the property 
formerly owned by pfizer).  the ultimate 
goal of the initiative is to contain general 
fund operating costs and reduce the environ-
mental impact of campus facilities.

prior to 2007, building space funded by 
the general fund  had been increasing about 
2 percent a year.  Since the Space utiliza-
tion initiative was launched, growth  in new 
space  has slowed to an average 0.5 percent 
per year, avoiding approximately $188 mil-
lion in one-time capital costs and $7.5 mil-
lion in recurring operating costs.

aDDitional coSt  
containMent MeaSureS
u-M units made $22 million in general fund 
budget reductions and reallocations  for fy 
2010. the largest savings resulted from 
eliminating 63 funded positions and some 
equipment replacement, eliminating lower 
priority activities, and introducing other op-
erational efficiencies.  

u-M plans to reduce or reallocate gen-
eral fund expenditures by approximately 
$100 million during the next three years. 

Measures include:
•	 Additional	 restructuring	 of	 health	 care	

benefits so employees pay a larger share of 
their health care costs.

•	 Postponing	 employer	 retirement	 contri-
butions until employees have worked at 
the university one year.

•	 Discontinuing	 the	 operation	 of	 U-M’s	
public television station.

•	 Funding	 all	 new	 initiatives	 through	 re-
allocation.

alternate reVenue SourceS
u-M has tapped other revenue sources to 
support financial aid, some faculty salaries, 
and activities that otherwise would be paid 
for from the general fund. here are a few 
examples:
•	 More	 than	 $1	million	 of	U-M’s	 annual	

proceeds from the Big ten network con-
tract is dedicated to need-based financial 
aid for undergraduates.

•	 Donors	 to	 the	 recent	 fundraising	 cam-
paign contributed $545 million for 
student support, including 2,045 new 
endowed scholarships valued at $260 
million, generating $13.2 million for stu-
dents in fy 2009.

•	 U-M	received	$18.3	million	in	revenues	
from royalties and equities in fy 2009. 

looKing aheaD
u-M continues to identify and pursue op-
portunities to become more efficient and 
generate additional revenue, including the 
consolidation of information technology 
units, central scheduling of classrooms, and 
revised travel and hosting guidelines. task 
forces are exploring the following:
•	 Expanding	spring/summer	instruction.
•	 Developing	 new	 non-traditional	 educa-

tion programs.  
•	 Ensuring	 U-M	 remains	 the	 school	 of	

choice for out-of-state students through 
effective marketing to outstanding poten-
tial applicants.

•	 Developing	ideas	for	creative	staffing	and	
shared administrative services.

•	 Identifying	best	practices	for	centers	and	
institutes.

18.0%

16.0%

14.0%

12.0%

10.0%

8.0%

6.0%

4.0%

2.0%
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u-M health rate increaSeS VS. national trenD

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

U-M Med +Rx Drug Rate

Nat’l HMO + Rx Drug Trend

12.6% 11.9% 10.7% 16.4% 14.9% 2.5% 3.5% 8.9% 6.6% 6.1%

2010

2.5%

8.9% 9.9% 12.8% 14.4% 13.7% 12.4% 12.0% 11.3% 10.7% 10.0% 10.0%
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Kate DaVy, formerly dean of arts and sciences at Bentley 
university, was named provost and vice 
chancellor for academic affairs at uM-
Dearborn effective, July 1, 2009. Before 
joining Bentley in 2002, Davy served as 
provost of adelphi university, dean of the 
peck School of the arts at the university 
of Wisconsin-Milwaukee, associate dean 
at the university of california-irvine, and 
dean at alverno college. 

 
BarBara l. KornBlau, a professor of occupational therapy 

and public health at nova Southeastern 
university, was named dean of the 
uM-flint School of health professions 
and Studies, effective July 15, 2009. 
Kornblau’s administrative experience 
includes president and board chair of the 
occupational therapy association, board 
chair of the arthritis foundation Southeast 

Branch, florida chapter, and chief of occupational therapy at Baptist 
hospital of Miami.
 

the 5,783 first-year students who enrolled in September 2008 
came from 50 states and 72 countries. they were selected from  
a group of 29,814 well-qualified applicants.
 
acaDeMicS | 51% had 3.9 or higher gpas | 30% had a perfect 
4.0 high school gpa | 94% ranked in the top 10% of their graduat-
ing class | 52% had an act composite score between 30 and 36 
| 2,059 students were members of a high school academic honor 
society

actiVitieS | 65% play a musical instrument | 43% were elected 
to at least one student government office | 31% had writing pub-
lished or were editors of high school publications | close to three-
quarters have participated in civics projects | 15% have started their 
own businesses | over a third have won city, regional, state, or national 
athletic awards

2008 fall terM enrollMent

 undergraduate graduate/professional total

ann arbor 25,994 15,034 41,028
Dearborn 6,778 1,791 8,569
flint 6,155 1,105 7,260
all campuses 38,927 17,930 56,857 
 

2007– 08 DegreeS granteD

 undergraduate graduate/professional total

ann arbor 6,258 4,868 11,079 
Dearborn 1,293  581 1,874 
flint  886 237 1,123 
all campuses 8,437 5,639 14,076

{  new appointments  }

{  new Student profile  }

laura lein,  a poverty expert, was named dean of the u-M School 
of Social Work, effective January 1, 2009. 
lein has conducted research on families 
in poverty, social welfare and childcare 
policies and programs, gender, race, and 
ethnicity. lein worked for the center for 
the Study of public policy in cambridge, 
Ma and was a faculty member at Wellesley 
college before going to the university of 

texas at austin in 1985, where she served as professor of social work 
and anthropology.
 

ora hirSch peScoVitz was appointed executive vice 
president for medical affairs and chief 
executive officer of the u-M health 
System, effective May 11, 2009. previously 
pescovitz, a nationally recognized pediatric 
endocrinologist and researcher, served as 
executive associate dean for research affairs 
at indiana university School of Medicine, 
president and ceo of riley hospital for 

children in indianapolis, and interim vice president for research 
administration at indiana university.

r
ac

he
l l

in
dl

ey
, u

M
-D

ea
rb

or
n

Sc
ot

t r
. g

al
vi

n,
 u

-M
 p

ho
to

 S
er

vi
ce

s

u
M

-f
lin

t

M
ar

ti
n 

V
lo

et
, u

-M
 p

ho
to

 S
er

vi
ce

s



16
Chile, Torres del Paine  
National Park waterfall
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the Michigan Difference 

{  leadership & Service  }
 

grahaM ScholarS StuDy effectS of  

hyDropoWer DeVelopMent in patagonia 

located in argentina and chile at the southernmost tip of South 

america, patagonia has ice fields and glaciers in the south and moun-

tains that rise into blue-gray mist in the east. Waterfalls thunder 

from cliffs into rivers so clean, people drink directly from them. this immense  

region is “pristine, immaculate,” says u-M senior Matt raubinger, and so ecolog-

ically diverse that there are penguins in the desert and flamingos in the ice fields. 

 raubinger was one of 18 students who traveled there in april for 10 days 

as part of “Sustainable energy Development in South america,” a class co-taught 

by Steven Wright, the arthur f. thurnau professor of civil and environmental  

engineering in the college of engineering, and Sara adlerstein, research scientist 

and lecturer at the School of natural resources and environment. this particular 

group studied proposals to build large new dams in the region. While the dams would 

generate hydropower for chile, the social and environmental costs would be high. 

 the graham environmental Sustainability institute funds the trips. the stu-

dents, who come from various academic disciplines, must apply for the class and are 

admitted as “graham Scholars.” this course and others like it, says adlerstein, will 

create “new professionals who are going to integrate information across different fields. 

that’s the kind of people we need for the future.”
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THE CHRONiClE of Higher Education  
named u-M one of the 2008 great 
colleges to Work for among institutions 
with 2,500 or more employees. the 
program addresses faculty–administration 
relations, compensation and benefits, and 
work/life balance.

unDergraDuateS haVe a new and 
highly relevant major on their list 
of choices: informatics, the study of 
information and the ways people and social 
systems use it. the college of literature, 
Science, and the arts (lSa), the college of 
engineering, and the School of information 
spent nearly two years collaborating on 
development of the joint program.

Detroit renaiSSance and The Detroit 
News honored the university research 
corridor and congressman John Dingell 
for economic leadership when it named  
them the winners of their inaugural 
renaissance awards program.

accorDing to an independent 2008 
report, university research corridor 
partners—Michigan State university, 
the university of Michigan, and Wayne 
State university—generated 69,285 jobs, 
educated more students than any of the 
nation’s best comparable r&D clusters,  
and produced $13.3 billion in economic 
impact in 2007.

thanKS to a partnerShip between the 
School of information and the united 
Way for Southeastern Michigan, the 
unemployed now have a new tool to 
help them get through difficult times. 
neighbors4neighbors, a project of the  
Keep Michigan Working task force, uses 
social computing technology to connect 
displaced workers with each other.

the ann arBor caMpuS aims to cut utility 
costs by 10 percent over the next three 
years with an energy conservation program 
called planet Blue, an education and 
outreach campaign that will target 90 large 
buildings. planet Blue will combine energy-
saving technologies and building upgrades 
with behavioral changes from building 
occupants.

in fall 2009, the School of education 
began offering a master’s concentration 
in philanthropy, advancement, and 
development. the 30-credit program 
teaches leadership skills for emerging 
professional opportunities in government 
relations, marketing, communications, 
alumni relations, and fund-raising.

the Shapiro liBrary became the first 
university library to install the espresso 
Book Machine, a state-of-the-art printer 
that will allow u-M to offer on-demand, 
bound reprints from its digitized collection 
of nearly 2 million books, as well as works 
from the open content alliance and 
other digital sources. it was purchased with 
donations to u-M libraries.

the center for health communications 
research at the comprehensive cancer 
center has received a five-year, $8 million 
grant from the national cancer institute to 
study cancer communications issues. the 
grant designates u-M as one of five centers 
of excellence in cancer communications 
research.

 

{  leadership & Service  }

uM-DearBorn and oakwood healthcare 
inc. transformed a vacant Dearborn 
building into a state-of-the-art learning 
center for kids, families, and future teachers. 
the 38,000-square-foot facility will house 
uM-D’s early childhood education center 
as well as oakwood’s center for exceptional 
families. oakwood purchased the former 
uaW/ford property last year. 

With 82 aluMni currently serving, 
u-M remains among the top five on the 
peace corps’ top 25 list of large schools 
nationwide producing corps volunteers. 
u-M has made the top Schools list since 
the ranking system began in 2001, and  
also ranked fifth last year.

u-M iS collaBorating with seven 
universities to improve child welfare by 
offering training and resources through  
the new national child Welfare Workforce 
institute. the u.S. children’s Bureau 
awarded a five-year, $16.5 million grant  
to fund the institute. 

in noVeMBer, president Mary Sue 
coleman received a humanitarian of the 
year award from the Michigan roundtable 
for Diversity and inclusion for her work 
advocating the educational value of 
affirmative action and diverse perspectives 
in the classroom.

preSiDent oBaMa named rosina M. 
Bierbaum, dean of the School of natural 
resources and environment, to the 
president’s council of advisors on Science 
and technology. the council advises the 
president in areas where understanding of 
science, technology, and innovation is key  
to forming responsible and effective policy.

for the firSt tiMe, the Medical School 
topped $300 million in awards from the 
national institutes of health, and reached 
the national top 10 among medical schools 
for nih funding. the performance impacts 
not only medical care and research, but also 
the struggling regional economy.
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only 5 percent of africans have access 
to the Web, compared with 74 percent 
of north americans. thanks in part to 
an engineering student project called 
iMagine africa, some residents of rural 
Kenya now have e-mail accounts and 
internet access.  

the School of natural resources and 
environment launched the teaching and 
inspiring environmental Stewardship 
program in March. the initiative will help 
educators, students, and the public better 
understand sustainability and the benefits  
of building green.

the inStitute for Social research is 
one of four institutions selected to carry 
out the largest study to date of suicide and 
mental health among military personnel. 
With $50 million in funding from the u.S. 
army, the new study will also involve the 
national institute of Mental health and the 
u.S. army.

u-M receiVeD a $3 million grant from 
the Bill & Melinda gates foundation to 
work with ghanaian health experts and 
authorities to strengthen human resources 
for health in ghana. the center for global 
health, School of public health, and 
Medical School will collaborate with two 
ghanaian universities and the ghanaian 
Ministry of health. 

faceD With the toughest economic 
times since the great Depression, u-M 
has earmarked $118 million in centrally 
awarded financial aid for fiscal 2010, 
including an 11.7 percent increase in 
financial aid for undergraduates. it is  
the largest investment in financial aid  
in u-M history.

a neW WeBSite that teaches english to 
Spanish-speaking immigrants attracted 
more than 500,000 visitors in its first three 
months. funded by the u.S. Department 
of education, www.usalearns.org is a 
collaboration between project iDeal at 
the institute for Social research and the 
Sacramento county office of education  
in california.

uM-flint Will receive a grant from the 
u.S. Department of health and human 
Services to encourage participation in 
health training programs among students 
from families with low annual incomes or 
from environments otherwise lacking in 
preliminary training for health professions.

Sixteen WoMen from the Middle east 
and north africa with advanced degrees 
will spend eight weeks working in local 
research labs through an exchange program 
organized by uM-Dearborn’s college of 
engineering and computer Science. the 
project is supported by a grant from the 
u.S. Department of State. 

the ann arBor languages partnership, 
a new School of education initiative, will 
provide Spanish language instruction to 
every third-grader in ann arbor public 
schools. u-M students will teach two 
sessions each week beginning fall 2009.  
the program will include fourth- and  
fifth-graders in 2010. 

in May, the liBrary expanded its historic 
digitization partnership with google. the 
amended agreement, based on google’s 
settlement with a broad class of authors 
and publishers, strengthens the library’s 
preservation efforts and increases the 
public’s access to books.

the life ScienceS institute launched the 
innovation partnership last year, a novel 
program that provides “gap funding” to help 
shepherd promising biomedical discoveries 
to the marketplace. as of March, donors 
pledged about $2 million toward the 
program’s $10 million goal. 

u-M announceD in april that it would 
become a smoke-free campus as of July 1, 
2011. the new policy will affect all grounds 
and buildings on the three campuses. the 
u-M medical campus has been smoke-free 
since 1999.
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One of the finest university 
art museums in the country, 
UMMA’s holdings represent  
150 years of art collecting.
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the Michigan Difference 

{  creativity & innovation  }
 

neW MuSeuM createS a ViBrant croSSroaDS  

for the artS

nearly 24,000 people streamed into the new university of Michigan Mu-

seum of art (uMMa) to celebrate its reopening—an overwhelmingly 

positive public response that capped a nearly three-year expansion and 

restoration project. the opening-week festivities began on tuesday, March 24 with a 

student preview and culminated on Sunday with a 24-hour community open house.

 With the addition of the 53,000-square-foot Maxine and Stuart frankel and

the frankel family Wing and the restoration of historic alumni Memorial hall, 

uMMa ushers in a new era—a reimagining of the art museum as a new “town 

square” for the 21st century. enhancements such as expanded open hours; meeting 

spaces for campus and community organizations; new programs in music, dance, 

film, and the spoken word; a new museum store; and new areas to relax all seek to 

place the arts at the center of public life.

 the $41.9 million transformation features dramatic new galleries highlight-

ing pieces drawn from the museum’s collections of more than 18,000 works, soaring 

special exhibition spaces, and “open storage” displays. the majority of financing for 

expansion and restoration, which broke ground in the fall of 2006, was provided by 

private donors.
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u-M reSearcherS ivan Maillard and 
yi zhang shared a $450,000 innovation 
award from the Damon runyon cancer 
research foundation. Maillard and zhang 
will look for novel ways to make bone 
marrow transplants safer and more widely 
available. they were among four 2009 
winners selected from 198 applicants. 

u-M phySiciStS playeD a leading role  
in the discovery of a new particle, the 
omega b baryon, which could help explain 
how matter was formed in the universe.  
the heavy particle is scarce today, but 
scientists believe it was abundant soon  
after the Big Bang.

u-M ScientiStS uSeD two continuous wave 
lasers to create the building block of future 
quantum computing technology. their 
research demonstrated that a quantum bit, or 
qubit, could be stabilized, thus achieving the 
fundamental step toward programming it.

in SepteMBer, u-M scientists began a 
phase 1 clinical trial for the treatment of 
cancer-related pain. the technique, which 
uses a novel gene transfer vector injected 
into the skin, may hold promise for treating 
other types of chronic pain, including pain 
from nerve damage caused by diabetes.

a concrete Material developed at 
u-M can heal itself when it cracks with 
just water and carbon dioxide. test samples 
recovered their original strength after 
being subjected to a tensile strain that 
would catastrophically fracture traditional 
concrete. 

u-M intenSifieD its efforts to help 
Michigan’s economy with the creation 
of a new innovation economy website:       
www.innovationeconomy.umich.edu. the 
site raises the visibility of u-M’s economic 
development activities, encourages tech 
transfer and entrepreneurial ventures, 
and gives potential business partners 
information about u-M resources.

u-M Spinoff coMpany lycera corp.
will receive $36 million of venture capital
financing. the company develops small
molecule drugs for treating autoimmune
diseases. gary glick (below), lycera 
founder and chief scientific officer, is the 
Werner e. Bachman professor of chemistry. 

a SenSor Built by u-M engineers, 
technicians, and students enabled the first 
observations of Mercury’s surface and 
atmospheric composition. the fast imaging 
plasma Spectrometer is a soda can-sized 
instrument on board the MeSSenger 
spacecraft, which performed the first of 
three flybys in January. 

four Doctoral StuDentS, winners 
of this year’s Michigan Memorial phoenix 
energy institute–rackham energy 
fellowships, will receive two years of 
funding to pursue multi-disciplinary 
research in energy innovation. they are: 
richard chen, Steven edmund, Bong  
gi Kim, and cameron Weimar.

When u-M unVeileD the undergraduate 
research opportunity program in 1989 it 
sponsored 14 projects. When the program 
celebrated its 20th anniversary in april, it 
boasted more than 1,000 students and 600 
faculty researchers, making it one of the 
university’s largest undergraduate research 
programs.

{  creativity & innovation  }
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More than 50 aluMni returned to hill 
auditorium on March 25 to perform in 
a sold-out concert celebrating the 25th 
anniversary of u-M’s musical theatre 
program. the event featured distinguished 
graduates and current students performing 
selections from Broadway hits and past 
productions. 

By uSing ultrafaSt laser pulses to slice 
off pieces of chromosomes and observe how 
they behave, u-M biomedical engineers 
have gained pivotal insights into mitosis, 
the process of cell division. their findings 
could help scientists better understand 
genetic diseases, aging, and cancer.

u-M anD general MotorS announced 
in May the formation of the institute of 
automotive research and education, 
which will research clean and efficient 
vehicle technologies. earlier in the year, 
gM and u-M established the advanced 
Battery coalition for Drivetrains, which 
will develop advanced batteries for electric 
vehicles. 

engineering profeSSor Mark Burns’ 
“lab on a chip” kit has been named one of 
The Scientist magazine’s top 10 innovations 
of 2008. the 16-piece set cuts costs and 
production time from days to minutes, 
thus making the technology more readily 
available to the wider scientific community.

oVer 1,000 MeMBerS of the u-M 
community put forth ideas for new 
businesses, inventions, and nonprofit  
groups in a contest named after its 
goal: 1,000 pitches. the student group 
Mpowered entrepreneurship and the 
college of engineering’s center for 
entrepreneurship organized the contest.

aMong the 13 neW business startups 
u-M licensed last year are companies 
offering treatments and diagnostics 
for diseases. others help produce 
next-generation vehicle batteries and 
semiconductor chips. over the last five 
years, u-M helped launch 49 startups of 
which 70 percent are located in Michigan.

u-M reSearcherS haVe a plan that 
could save up to 75 percent of the 
energy that power-hungry computer data 
centers consume. the approach includes 
powernap, a program to put idle servers  
to sleep, and railS, a high-efficiency 
power supply system. 

u-M ScientiStS are using a $2 million 
grant from the national Science foundation 
to explore plug-in hybrid electric vehicles 
that, when not in use, return excess 
electricity to the grid. the concept, called 
vehicle-to-grid integration, is part of a larger 
effort to improve transportation and electric 
power infrastructures.

engineering profeSSor Michael 
Bernitsas (above) has created a machine 
called ViVace that can turn slow-moving 
water currents into a new, reliable, and 
affordable alternative energy source. a pilot 
device will be installed in the Detroit river 
in 2010. 

to help StuDentS battle the increasing 
costs of textbooks, u-M has developed 
uBooks, an online tool aimed at making 
it easier for students to buy and sell used 
books. in addition, the system sends faculty 
selections automatically to local booksellers.

in June, the Department of Dance 
presented “Dancing at 100,” a series of 
performances and events in recognition of 
its century-long commitment to teaching 
and perpetuating the art of dance. 

u-M aStronoMerS contributed to an 
international study that gives new insights 
into the workings of jets produced by 
supermassive black holes. the findings will 
help explain the physical processes going on 
in these remote objects, which have been 
very difficult to observe.
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Refrigerators insulated with rice husk 
ash could have 20 percent more inte-
rior space while increasing efficiency 
by up to 50 percent. 
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the Michigan Difference 

{  excellence & achievement  }
 

u-M StuDent teaM taKeS top honorS  

for DeVelopMent of Bio-BaSeD inSulation 

on May 12, the Massachusetts institute of technology clean energy prize 

announced that a u-M team beat out more than 100 student entries 

from 40 colleges and universities to win the $200,000 grand prize in 

the national energy business plan competition. it was the latest in a year of big 

wins for five students from the ross School of Business and the School of natural  

resources and environment and their business startup, husk insulation, inc. 

 husk’s innovative and patented technology converts rice husks, an agricul-

tural waste product, into cost-effective vacuum insulated panels that are thinner and 

up to 10 times more effective than conventional insulation. With applications in a  

variety of markets—including refrigeration, housing, and transportation—husk  

answers the global demand for energy conservation by delivering a product solution 

that could reduce u.S. energy consumption by more than 57 billion kilowatt-hours. 

 in March, husk placed second in the first u-M Dte clean energy prize  

competition, and won second prize in the cleantech Venture challenge hosted by 

the Deming center for entrepreneurship at the university of colorado at Boul-

der. in february, the group took the pryor-hale award for best business plan at 

the Michigan Business challenge and was also a winner of the Dow Sustainability  

innovation Student challenge. the enterprise was conceived by ross 2009 graduates 

erica graham, Shally Madan, Siddharth Sinha, and ian Dailey, and master’s candi-

date elizabeth uhlhorn.
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the 2008 WorlD university rankings 
rated u-M one of the top 18 universities 
in the world and the top u.S. public 
university. the rankings are based on a 
survey of academics and recruiters, research, 
international orientation, the number  
of academic papers cited, and staff-to-
student ratios. 

MeDical anD Doctoral student abdul 
el-Sayed was one of 32 rhodes Scholars 
named nationwide in 2008. Sayed, who 
plans to become a neurosurgeon, earned 
his u-M bachelor’s degree in biology 
and political science in 2007. rhodes 
Scholarships provide all expenses for two  
or three years of study at the university  
of oxford in england. 

u-M announceD in March the formation 
of the a. alfred taubman Medical research 
institute consortium for Stem cell 
therapies. it is the first major embryonic 
stem cell program launched in Michigan 
since passage of a state constitutional 
amendment allowing for the creation of 
new stem cell lines using surplus embryos 
from fertility clinics.

after tWo yearS of construction, the new 
hill Dining center and renovated Mosher-
Jordan hall opened its doors in august. the 
projects are major achievements in u-M’s 
residential life initiative to revitalize and 
expand the student experience on campus, 
and to strengthen the living/learning 
connection at the university. 

SteVen Wright, professor of civil and 
environmental engineering, was selected for 
the third annual Michigan Distinguished 
professor of the year award presented by the 
president’s council, State universities of 
Michigan. Wright is one of three professors 
from Michigan’s 15 public universities 
selected for the award.

aKKeneel talSMa, assistant professor 
at the School of nursing, was one of 15 
winners of the robert Wood Johnson 
foundation’s inaugural nurse faculty 
Scholar award. the three-year, $350,000 
grant will support talsma’s study of 
operating-room nurses.

the national inStituteS of health 
awarded u-M $17 million to expand the 
Michigan portion of the national children’s 
Study, the largest and longest study yet 
conducted of the health and development 
of more than 100,000 children across the 
nation. 

four u-M Staff received 2008–09 
fulbright Scholar grants. from ann arbor: 
Srinika Jayaratne, associate dean and 
professor, School of Social Work; thomas 
phillips, assistant director, graduate 
career Services, gerald r. ford School 
of public policy; alan henry tkaczyk, 
research fellow, Departments of Mechanical 
engineering and Biomedical engineering. 
from Dearborn: adnan Shaout, professor 
of electrical and computer engineering.

John KiM, life Sciences institute faculty 
member and assistant professor in the 
Medical School’s Department of human 
genetics, was named as one of 17 pew 
Scholars in the Biomedical Sciences for 
2009.  

ronalD inglehart was named to the 
american academy of arts and Science. 
inglehart, who joined u-M in 1966, directs 
the institute for Social research’s World 
Values Surveys.

{  excellence & achievement  }

fiVe faculty MeMBerS were honored 
with arthur f. thurnau professorships for 
outstanding contributions to undergraduate 
education. recipients retain their titles 
throughout their careers at u-M. they 
are: charles Bright, professor of history, 
professor in and director of the residential 
college, lSa; august evrard, professor 
of physics and astronomy, lSa; andrei 
Markovits, the Karl W. Deutsch collegiate 
professor of comparative politics and 
german Studies, professor of germanic 
languages and literature, professor of 
political science and professor of sociology, 
lSa; James Walsh, the gerald and esther 
carey professor of Business administration, 
and professor of organizational behavior, 
human resource management, corporate 
strategy, and international business at 
the Stephen M. ross School of Business; 
Margaret Wooldridge, professor of 
mechanical engineering and aerospace 
engineering at the college of engineering. 

u-M engliSh profeSSor ralph Williams 
was selected as the 2008 carnegie 
foundation for advancement of teaching 
Michigan professor of the year. Williams, 
an arthur f. thurnau professor of english, 
retired after winter term 2009. he had been 
with u-M since 1970.

u-M Will Be home to an energy frontier 
research center that will explore new 
materials to better convert solar energy to 
electricity. it is one of 46 centers across the 
nation and one of two in Michigan that will 
pursue advanced research on energy. the 
Department of energy will fund the center 
for five years with about $19.5 million. 

tWo profeSSorS received a presidential 
early career award for Scientists and 
engineers at a White house ceremony on 
December 19. anna Michalak is an assistant 
professor in the college of engineering. 
Max Shtein is an assistant professor in the 
college of engineering and the School of 
art & Design. 
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in 2008–09 VarSity sports, the Wolverines 
captured Big ten championships in men’s 
and women’s gymnastics, softball, men’s 
swimming and diving, and women’s water 
polo. Women’s water polo also won the 
collegiate Water polo association’s eastern 
championship title. in varsity club sports, 
men’s lacrosse won the Men’s collegiate 
lacrosse association national championship 
and men’s rowing swept the heavyweight 
eights at the american collegiate rowing 
association championships. 

three profeSSorS Were elected as 
members of the national academy of 
Sciences: David Meyer, director of the 
psychology Department’s Brain cognition 
and action laboratory; allan gibbard, the 
richard B. Brandt Distinguished university 
professor of philosophy; and yu xie, 
the otis Dudley Duncan Distinguished 
university professor of Sociology.

AMERiCAN SCHOOl & UNiVERSiTy 

magazine selected uM-flint’s $5.6 million 
renovation of David M. french hall for 
“outstanding Design” recognition. 

after 20 yearS of construction, cern’s 
large hadron collider—the world’s 
largest—finally began its mission in 
the fall of 2008. More than 100 u-M 
researchers have worked on the historic 
multibillion-dollar project, which aims 
to answer lingering questions about the 
prevailing theory of particle physics. cern 
(the european organization for nuclear 
research) is located in geneva, Switzerland. 

for the thirD tiMe in the past four 
years, u-M led the nation in the number 
of fulbright recipients with 31 awardees. 
harvard university followed with 29, 
yale university with 26, northwestern 
university and the university of california-
Berkeley with 24, and the university of 
chicago with 23.

tWo faculty MeMBerS received 2009 
guggenheim fellowships. they are: laura 
Kasischke, an associate professor in the 
Department of english and the residential 
college, and heidi Kumao, an associate 
professor in the School of art & Design. 
this year’s winners included 180 artists, 
scholars, and scientists selected from nearly 
3,000 applicants.

u-M hoSpitalS anD health centers
were again named among the nation’s
best, ranking 14th overall in the annual
U.S. News & World Report honor roll
of “america’s Best hospitals.” Both the
consumers’ checkbook ranking, published 
by AARP The Magazine, and the thomson/
reuters top 100 hospitals ranking, 
published in Modern Healthcare, also cited 
uMhhc for high-quality care. u-M was 
the only Michigan hospital to make the lists. 
 
the charleS r. Walgreen, Jr. Drama 
center and arthur Miller theater received 
the architecture Merit award from 
the united States institute for theatre 
technology, an association of professional 
designers and technicians in the performing 
arts.

the Science anD technology foundation 
of Japan awarded David e. Kuhl, professor 
of radiology at the Medical School, the 2009 
Japan prize for technological integration of 
medical science and engineering. the prize 
is one of the world’s most prestigious awards 
in science and technology.
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The NCRC will provide opportunities 
for collaborations with industry  
in areas such as pharmaceuticals, 
biotech, energy, nanotechnology, and 
many other types of research activity.
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{  Major projects  }
 

purchaSe of pfizer facility paVeS the Way for  

reSearch expanSion anD JoB creation  

u-M completed its purchase of the former pfizer pharmaceutical research 

center adjacent to north campus on June 16, 2009. acquisition of the 

174-acre site, which is now considered part of north campus, will save 

u-M both time and money over the long term compared with the cost of building 

new research facilities.  

  the 30-building facility, now known as the north campus research com-

plex (ncrc), will help launch new discoveries, create jobs, provide educational 

opportunities—and offers a wise investment for u-M’s future. the purchase could 

expand research capacity by 10 percent and generate up to 3,000 high-quality new 

jobs in the next decade.

  no state taxpayer or tuition dollars were used to finance this $114 million 

acquisition, which includes assumed liabilities of approximately $6 million. funds 

for the acquisition came primarily from health System reserves. renovation and op-

erating costs will be borne by the health System and other university units whose 

researchers and staff will occupy the complex.

  “this purchase is an investment in the future of the university of Michigan 

and of our state,” said president Mary Sue coleman. “these facilities will help attract 

more research funding to the area, allowing us not only to broaden our contributions 

as one of the nation’s premier research universities, but also to strengthen the region’s 

ability to stimulate new business.”

Sc
ot

t r
. g

al
vi

n,
 u

-M
 p

ho
to

 S
er

vi
ce

s

29



30

proJectS in planning

couzens hall renovation

engineering programs Building addition

françois-xavier Bagnoud Building  
ultra-low Vibration laboratory

george granger Brown Memorial 
laboratories Mechanical engineering 
addition 

intercollegiate Soccer Stadium

Kresge complex Demolition 

law School academic Building  
and hutchins hall law School  
commons addition

Molecular and Behavioral neuroscience 
institute Building first level laboratory 
renovations

north campus research complex

north campus Switch Station  
transformer upgrades

player Development center  
for intercollegiate Basketball

university Stores and alexander g. ruthven 
Museums Building Museum of zoology 
collection relocation and renovations

university of Michigan hospitals and 
health centers programs

c.S. Mott children’s hospital and +	
Women’s hospital replacement project 
Shell Space completion project

university hospital inpatient  +	
adult psychiatry renovation 
 
 

eaSt QuaDrangle reSiDential 

college auDitoriuM reneWal | 
Work started april 2009 with an estimated 
completion date of December 2009. 
financing is from college of lSa, gifts,  
and general fund.

eaSt uniVerSity chiller plant  

neW chiller | Work started august 
2008 with an estimated completion date 
of September 2009. financing is from 
investment proceeds.

enVironMental anD Water 

reSourceS engineering BuilDing 

reSearch laBoratorieS for ciVil 

anD enVironMental engineering | 
Work started May 2009 with an estimated 
completion date of December 2009. 
financing is from college of engineering.

forD nuclear reactor 

DecoMMiSSioning | Work started 
December 2005 with an estimated 
completion date of July 2009.  
financing is from investment proceeds.

thoMaS franciS, Jr., puBlic health 

BuilDing eleVator replaceMent | 

Work started September 2008 with an 
estimated completion date of March 2010. 
financing is from general fund.

thoMaS franciS, Jr., puBlic health 

BuilDing infraStructure anD 

finiSheS reneWal | Work started april 
2009 with an estimated completion date of 
December 2011. financing is from School 
of public health and investment proceeds.

proJectS in progreSS

Vera BaitS ii Mechanical 

infraStructure reneWal | Work 
started May 2008 with an estimated 
completion date of September 2009. 
financing is from university housing.

caMp DaViS rocKy Mountain fielD 

Station caBin replaceMent anD 

infraStructure iMproVeMent | Work 
started December 2008 with an estimated 
completion date of September 2009. 
financing is from college of lSa.

central caMpuS area utility tunnel 

anD piping replaceMent 2009 | Work 
started april 2009 with an estimated 
completion date of December 2009. 
financing is from utilities reserves. 

central poWer plant 2.4KV 

SWitchgear upgraDe | Work started 
april 2008 with an estimated completion 
date of September 2009. financing is from 
utilities reserves. 

central poWer plant replaceMent 

SteaM turBine | Work started July 2008 
with an estimated completion date of 
December 2009. financing is from utilities 
reserves.

WilliaM W. cooK legal reSearch 

liBrary eleVator replaceMent |  
Work started february 2009 with an 
estimated completion date of June 2010. 
financing is from investment proceeds.
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inDoor practice facility for 

intercollegiate footBall | Work 
started December 2007 with an estimated 
completion date of December 2009. 
financing is from athletic Department  
and gifts.

W. K. Kellogg inStitute anD Dental 

BuilDing exterior repairS 2008 | Work 
started october 2008 with an estimated 
completion date of September 2009. 
financing is from investment proceeds.

W.K. Kellogg inStitute anD Dental 

BuilDing inforMation technology 

infraStructure upgraDe | Work 
started february 2009 with an estimated 
completion date of September 2010. 
financing is from investment proceeds.

Michigan StaDiuM renoVation anD 

expanSion proJect | Work started July 
2007 with an estimated completion date  
of December 2010. financing is from 
athletic Department and gifts.

Michigan WreStling center | Work 
started october 2008 with an estimated 
completion date of December 2009. 
financing is from athletic Department  
and gifts.

MoDern languageS BuilDing 

chilleD Water plant expanSion | 

Work started December 2008 with an 
estimated completion date of September 
2009. financing is from utilities reserves 
and general fund.

earl V. Moore BuilDing 

infraStructure iMproVeMentS |  
Work started february 2009 with an 
estimated completion date of December 
2009. financing is from investment 
proceeds and utilities reserves.

north QuaD reSiDential anD 

acaDeMic coMplex | Work started 
December 2006 with an estimated 
completion date of September 2010. 
financing is from university housing, 
office of the provost, college of lSa,  
and investment proceeds. 

alexanDer g. ruthVen MuSeuMS 

BuilDing eleVator replaceMent | 

Work started february 2009 with an 
estimated completion date of March 2010. 
financing is from general fund.

MaDelon louiSa StocKWell hall 

renoVation | Work started March 
2008 with an estimated completion date 
of September 2009. financing is from 
university housing and investment 
proceeds. 

thoMpSon Street parKing 

Structure aDDition | Work started 
april 2009 with an estimated completion 
date of December 2010. financing is from 
parking and investment proceeds.

toWSley center for chilDren 

replaceMent facility | Work started 
august 2008 with an estimated completion 
date of December 2009. financing is from 
investment proceeds.

uniVerSity of Michigan hoSpitalS 

anD health centerS prograMS | 

financing is from hospitals and health 
centers.

BriarWooD 2 anD 4 renoVationS | +	
Work started September 2008 with 
an estimated completion date of 
September 2009.

Data center proJect | +	 Work started 
october 2008 with an estimated 
completion date of June 2010.

DoMino’S farMS leaSeholD +	
iMproVeMentS for the DiViSion 

of MetaBoliSM, enDocrinology, 

anD DiaBeteS | Work started october 
2008 with an estimated completion 
date of September 2009.

eye center expanSion | +	 Work 
started January 2007 with an estimated 
completion date of March 2010. 
financing is from hospitals and health 
centers, Medical School, and gifts.

c.S. Mott chilDren’S hoSpital +	
anD WoMen’S hoSpital 

replaceMent proJect | Work 
started february 2007 with an 
estimated completion date of June 
2012. financing is from hospitals  
and health centers and gifts.

a. alfreD tauBMan health +	
care center leVel B1 MeDical 

oBSerVation unit | Work started 
December 2008 with an estimated 
completion date of September 2009.
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a. alfreD tauBMan health  +	
care center regiStration area 

renoVationS on leVelS 1–3 | Work 
started January 2009 with an estimated 
completion date of December 2010.

a. alfreD tauBMan health care +	
center SeconD leVel clinic 

entry renoVationS | Work started 
august 2008 with an estimated 
completion date of December 2009.

uniVerSity hoSpital air +	
hanDling upgraDeS | Work started 
february 2009 with an estimated 
completion date of March 2010.

uniVerSity hoSpital +	
coMputeD toMography anD 

interVentional raDiology 

expanSion | Work started June 2008 
with an estimated completion date of 
July 2009.

uniVerSity hoSpital inpatient +	
BeD expanSion – unit 7a | Work 
started april 2009 with an estimated 
completion date of December 2009.

uniVerSity hoSpital Morgue +	
renoVation | Work started february 
2009 with an estimated completion 
date of December 2009.

uniVerSity hoSpital poSitron +	
eMiSSion toMography/ 

coMputeD toMography Scanner 

expanSion | Work started May 2009 
with an estimated completion date of 
December 2009.

uniVerSity hoSpital proceSS +	
chilleD Water expanSion anD 

neW cooling toWer | Work 
started May 2009 with an estimated 
completion date of June 2010. 

proJectS coMpleteD

300 north ingallS BuilDing 

geriatric center relocation 

renoVationS | completed September 
2008. financed by Medical School.

aluMni MeMorial hall MuSeuM  

of art aDDition | completed november 
2008. financed by gifts, Museum of art, 
central administration, and investment 
proceeds.

BuSineSS aDMiniStration executiVe 

DorMitory anD SaM Wyly hall gueSt 

rooM area renoVationS | completed 
May 2009. financed by ross School of 
Business.

central caMpuS area utility  

tunnel replaceMent 2008 |  

completed December 2008.  
financed by utilities reserves. 

central caMpuS recreation 

BuilDing anD Margaret Bell pool 

thirD leVel renoVationS for 

KineSiology | completed July 2008. 
financed by office of the provost and 
Division of Kinesiology.

central poWer plant SteaM 

turBineS replaceMent | completed 
January 2009. financed by utilities reserves.

central poWer plant Water 

treatMent SySteM iMproVeMentS | 
completed March 2009. financed by 
utilities reserves.

Martha cooK BuilDing roof 

replaceMent | completed September 
2008. financed by university housing. 

WilliaM W. cooK legal reSearch 

liBrary anD hutchinS hall lighting 

iMproVeMentS | completed March 
2009. financed by law School, gifts, and 
investment proceeds.

DaViD M. DenniSon BuilDing 

auDitoria renoVationS | completed 
September 2008. financed by college of 
lSa and general fund.

Dental BuilDing anD W. K. Kellogg 

inStitute eleVator replaceMent | 
completed april 2009. financed by 
investment proceeds.

engineering prograMS BuilDing 

firSt floor inStructional learning 

center | completed December 2008. 
financed by college of engineering.

flint- DaViD M. french hall 

renoVationS | completed December 
2008. financed by State Building authority 
and uM-flint.

flint- KearSley Street extenSion | 

completed December 2008. financed by 
charles Stewart Mott foundation grant.

flint- StuDent houSing facility | 

completed September 2008. financed by 
uM-flint, gifts, and grants. 

hutchinS hall 2008 exterior repairS | 

completed october 2008. financed by 
investment proceeds.

inStitute for Social reSearch 

heating, Ventilation, anD air 

conDitioning upgraDeS | completed 
March 2009. financed by investment 
proceeds.

intercollegiate athleticS Soccer 

fielDS | completed June 2009. financed 
by athletic Department.

W. K. Kellogg eye center chiller 

replaceMent | completed april 2009. 
financed by general fund.

KMS BuilDing MeDical School 

faculty group practice Billing 

leaSeholD iMproVeMentS | completed 
June 2009. financed by Medical School.
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life ScienceS inStitute BuilDing 

cryo-electron MicroScopy Suite | 

completed March 2009. financed by the 
office of the provost, Medical School, and 
the life Sciences institute.

clarence cooK little Science 

BuilDing thirD floor geology 

laBoratory renoVation | completed 
august 2008. financed by college of lSa.

MeDical Science unit i renoVationS 

for raDiology anD nuclear 

MeDicine | completed December  
2008. financed by Medical School and 
general fund. 

Michigan MeMorial phoenix 

laBoratory renoVation | completed 
December 2008. financed by State 
Building authority and investment 
proceeds.

MoSher-JorDan hall renoVation 

anD hill Dining center | completed 
June 2008. financed by university housing 
and investment proceeds.

neWBerry hall - KelSey MuSeuM 

aDDition anD renoVation | completed 
october 2008. financed by gifts, neh 
grant, investment proceeds, and college  
of lSa.

Stephen M. roSS School of BuSineSS 

facilitieS enhanceMent | completed 
December 2008. financed by ross School 
of Business and gifts.

School of nurSing BuilDing 

interior upgraDeS | completed 
September 2008. financed by School  
of nursing and investment proceeds.

South QuaDrangle eighth floor 

roof replaceMent | completed July 
2008. financed by university housing. 

StuDent actiVitieS BuilDing 

renoVation | completed December 
2008. financed by State Building authority 
and investment proceeds.

a. alfreD tauBMan MeDical liBrary 

eleVator replaceMent | completed 
June 2009. financed by investment 
proceeds. 

uniVerSity of Michigan hoSpitalS 

anD health centerS prograMS | 

financed by hospitals and health centers.

cancer center Digital BreaSt +	
iMaging expanSion | completed 
august 2008.

carDioVaScular center  +	
general clinical reSearch 

center relocation | completed 
December 2008.

carDioVaScular center nuclear +	
carDiology relocation | 

completed January 2009.

eaSt Mechanical BuilDing +	
anD SiMpSon circle parKing 
Structure chilleD Water  
loop iMproVeMentS | completed 
March 2009.

MeDical profeSSional BuilDing +	
heating, Ventilation, anD 
air conDitioning unit 
replaceMent | completed  
october 2008.

c.S. Mott chilDren’S hoSpital +	
MoDerate care expanSion | 
completed December 2008.

uniVerSity hoSpital anD Mott +	
chilDren’S hoSpital fooD 
SerVice eQuipMent replaceMent 
anD galley renoVation | 
completed august 2008.

uniVerSity hoSpital high DoSe +	
rate raDiation Suite | completed 
December 2008.

uniVerSity hoSpital Magnetic +	
reSonance iMaging expanSion | 
completed March 2009.

uniVerSity hoSpital proceSS +	
chilleD Water SySteM expanSion | 
completed november 2008.

uniVerSity hoSpital roof +	
replaceMent | completed  
october 2008.

uniVerSity hoSpital Surgical +	
intenSiVe care unit rooM 
Separation | completed  
november 2008.
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Management Responsibility for Financial Statements

The University of Michigan 
Office of the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

3014 FleMing AdMiniStRAtion Building 
Ann ARBoR, MichigAn 48109-1340 
(734) 764-7272 FAx (734) 936-8730

September 8, 2009 

the management of the university of Michigan (the “university”) is responsible for the preparation, integrity, 
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements. the financial statements, presented on pages 52 
to 77, have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the united States of 
America and, as such, include amounts based on judgments and estimates by management. 

the consolidated financial statements have been audited by the independent accounting firm Pricewaterhousecoopers 
llP, which was given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, including minutes of all meetings 
of the Board of Regents. the university believes that all representations made to the independent auditors during 
their audit were valid and appropriate. Pricewaterhousecoopers’ audit opinion is presented on page 35. 

the university maintains a system of internal controls over financial reporting, which is designed to provide 
reasonable assurance to the university’s management and Board of Regents regarding the preparation of reliable 
published financial statements. Such controls are maintained by the establishment and communication of 
accounting and financial policies and procedures, by the selection and training of qualified personnel, and by 
an internal audit program designed to identify internal control weakness in order to permit management to take 
appropriate corrective action on a timely basis. there are, however, inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any 
system of internal control, including the possibility of human error and the circumvention of controls. 

the Board of Regents, through its Finance, Audit and investment committee, is responsible for engaging the 
independent auditors and meeting regularly with management, internal auditors, and the independent auditors to  
ensure that each is carrying out their responsibilities and to discuss auditing, internal control, and financial 
reporting matters. Both internal auditors and the independent auditors have full and free access to the Finance, 
Audit and investment committee. 

Based on the above, i certify that the information contained in the accompanying financial statements fairly presents,  
in all material respects, the financial condition, changes in net assets and cash flows of the university. 

timothy P. Slottow  
executive Vice President and chief Financial officer 
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Report of independent Auditors

the Regents of the university of Michigan

in our opinion, the accompanying consolidated statement of net assets and the related consolidated statements of 
revenues, expenses and changes in net assets and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the university of Michigan (the “university”) at June 30, 2009 and 2008, and the changes in its 
financial position for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
united States of America. these financial statements are the responsibility of the university’s management. our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits 
of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the united States of America. 
those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used 
and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We 
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in note 1 to the financial statements, the university adopted the provisions of governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (“gASB”) Statement no. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for 
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, as of July 1, 2007.

the Management’s discussion and Analysis (“Md&A”) on pages 36 through 51 is not a required part of the 
financial statements but is supplementary information required by gASB. We have applied certain limited 
procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of management regarding the methods of measurement and 
presentation of the Md&A. however, we did not audit the information and express no opinion on it.

September 8, 2009

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
PricewaterhouseCoopers Plaza
1900 St. Antoine Street
Detroit MI 48226-2263
Telephone (313) 394 6000
Facsimile (313) 394 6555
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Management’s discussion and Analysis | unAudited

IntroductIon
the following discussion and analysis provides an overview of the financial position of the university of Michigan 
(the “university”) at June 30, 2009 and 2008 and its activities for the three fiscal years ended June 30, 2009. this 
discussion has been prepared by management and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements 
and the notes thereto, which follow this section. 

the university is a comprehensive public institution of higher learning with approximately 57,000 students and 
6,700 faculty members on three campuses in southeast Michigan. the university offers a diverse range of degree 
programs from baccalaureate to post-doctoral levels through 19 schools and colleges, and contributes to the state 
and nation through related research and public service programs. the university, in total, employs more than 
48,000 permanent and temporary staff. the university also maintains one of the largest health care complexes in 
the world through its hospitals and health centers (“hhc”). hhc consists of three hospitals, 40 health cen-
ters and more than 120 outpatient clinics. hhc is an integral part of the university’s health System which also 
includes the university’s Medical School and Michigan health corporation, a wholly-owned corporation created 
to pursue joint venture and managed care initiatives.

the university consistently ranks among the nation’s top universities by various measures of quality, both in 
general academic terms, and in terms of strength of offerings in specific academic disciplines and professional 
subjects. excellence in research is another crucial element in the university’s high ranking among educational 
institutions. Research is central to the university’s mission and permeates its schools and colleges. in addition to 
the large volume of research conducted within the academic schools, colleges, and departments, the university 
has more than a dozen large-scale research institutes outside the academic units that conduct, in collaboration 
with those units, full-time research focused on long-term interdisciplinary matters. the university’s health Sys-
tem also has a tradition of excellence in teaching, advancement of medical science and patient care, consistently 
ranking among the best health care systems in the nation.

FInAncIAL HIGHLIGHtS 
the university’s financial position remains strong, with assets of $12.9 billion and liabilities of $4.2 billion at 
June 30, 2009, compared to assets of $14.8 billion and liabilities of $4.0 billion at June 30, 2008. net assets, 
which represent the residual interest in the university’s assets after liabilities are deducted, totaled $8.7 billion 
at June 30, 2009 as compared to $10.8 billion at June 30, 2008. changes in net assets represent the university’s 
results of operations and are summarized for the years ended June 30, 2009 and 2008 as follows:

(in millions) 2009 2008

Operating revenues and state educational appropriations $  4,687.3  $  4,508.6

Total expenses  5,119.3   4,853.6

  (432.0)  (345.0)

Net investment (loss) income  (1,851.2)  621.9

Gifts and other nonoperating revenues, net  195.5   287.5

  (2,087.7)  564.4

Implementation of GASB Statement No. 45, postemployment benefits

 obligations as of July 1, 2007     (1,306.9) 

Decrease in net assets $ (2,087.7) $  (742.5)

net assets decreased $2.1 billion in fiscal 2009 primarily due to net investment losses. net assets decreased $743 
million in fiscal 2008, primarily due to the implementation of gASB Statement no. 45, Accounting and Financial 
Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other than Pensions, offset by net investment income. 

operating revenues and state educational appropriations increased 4 percent, or $179 million, while total expenses 
increased 5 percent, or $266 million. the results of operations reflect the university’s focus on maintaining its 
national standards academically, and in research and health care, while addressing declining state appropriations 
and rising health care, regulatory, and facility costs in a competitive recruitment environment for faculty and 
health care professionals. 
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net investment losses in 2009 were $1.9 billion compared to net investment income of $622 million in 2008. 
the university invests its financial assets in pools with distinct risk and liquidity characteristics based on its 
needs, with most of its financial assets invested in two such pools. the university’s working capital is primarily 
invested in relatively short duration, liquid assets, while the university’s endowment is invested in a long term 
strategy where a greater allocation to equity and equity-like investments left it more exposed to the effects of the 
global financial crisis in 2009. the impact of losses in the endowment was muted by the university’s spending 
policy which seeks to insulate university operations from expected volatility in the capital markets and provide 
for a stable and predictable level of spending from the endowment.

uSing the FinAnciAl StAteMentS
the university’s financial report includes three financial statements: the Statement of net Assets; the Statement 
of Revenues, expenses and changes in net Assets; and the Statement of cash Flows. these financial statements 
are prepared in accordance with gASB principles, which establish standards for external financial reporting for 
public colleges and universities and require that financial statements be presented on a consolidated basis to focus 
on the university as a whole.

StAteMent oF net ASSetS
the statement of net assets presents the financial position of the university at the end of the fiscal year and 
includes all assets and liabilities of the university. the difference between total assets and total liabilities — net 
assets — is one indicator of the current financial condition of the university, while the change in net assets is an 
indication of whether the overall financial condition has improved or worsened during the year. A comparison 
of the university’s assets, liabilities and net assets at June 30, 2009 and 2008 is summarized as follows:

(in millions) 2009 2008

Current assets $  1,825 $ 2,536

Noncurrent assets:

  Endowment, life income and other investments  6,215  7,855

  Capital assets, net  4,628  4,130

  Other  241  250

    Total assets  12,909  14,771

Current liabilities other than long-term bonds payable subject to remarketing, net  1,017  1,058

Long-term bonds payable subect to remarketing, net  652  707

Noncurrent liabilities  2,573  2,251

    Total liabilities  4,242  4,016

  

Net assets $  8,667 $  10,755

the university continues to maintain and protect its strong financial foundation. this financial health, as re-
flected in the statement of net assets at June 30, 2009 and 2008, results from the prudent utilization of financial 
resources including careful cost controls, preservation of endowment funds, conservative utilization of debt, and 
adherence to a long-range capital plan for the maintenance and replacement of the physical plant.

current assets consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, operating and capital investments, and accounts 
receivable. total current assets decreased $711 million, to $1.8 billion at June 30, 2009, primarily due to decreases 
in cash and investments. cash, cash equivalents and operating investments totaled $704 million at June 30, 2009, 
which represents approximately two months of total expenses excluding depreciation. 

current liabilities other than long-term bonds payable subject to remarketing consist primarily of accounts pay-
able, accrued compensation, deferred revenue, commercial paper and the current portion of bonds payable.
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EndowmEnt, LIFE IncomE And otHEr InvEStmEntS
the university’s endowment, life income and other investments decreased $1.6 billion, to $6.2 billion at June 
30, 2009. this decrease primarily resulted from unrealized losses on investments and endowment distributions 
to beneficiary units for operations, offset by the receipt of new endowment funds through gifts and transfers. 
the composition of the university’s endowment, life income and other investments at June 30, 2009 and 2008 
is summarized as follows:

(in millions) 2009 2008

Endowment investments $  6,001 $  7,572

Life income investments  89  118

Noncurrent portion of insurance and benefits obligations investments  125  165

 $  6,215 $  7,855

the university’s endowment funds consist of both permanent endowments and funds functioning as endowment. 
Permanent endowments are those funds received from donors with the stipulation that the principal remain in-
violate and be invested in perpetuity to produce income that is to be expended for the purposes specified by the 
donors. Funds functioning as endowment consist of amounts (restricted gifts or unrestricted funds) that have 
been allocated by the university for long-term investment purposes, but are not limited by donor stipulations 
requiring the university to preserve principal in perpetuity. Programs supported by endowment funds include 
scholarships, fellowships, professorships, research efforts, and other important programs and activities.

the university uses its endowment funds to support operations in a way that strikes a balance between generating 
a predictable stream of annual support for current needs and preserving the purchasing power of the endowment 
funds for future periods. the major portion of the endowment is maintained in the university endowment Fund, 
a unitized pool which represents a collection of nearly 7,000 separate (individual) funds, the majority of which 
are restricted for specific purposes. the university endowment Fund is invested in the university’s long term 
Portfolio, a single diversified investment pool. 

the university’s endowment spending rate policy provides for an annual distribution of 5 percent of the one-
quarter lagged, seven-year moving average fair value of university endowment Fund assets, with distributions 
limited to 5.3 percent of current fair value. Any capital gains or income generated above the endowment spending 
rate are reinvested so that in lean times funds will be available for distribution. effective July 1, 2006, the moving 
average period was extended from three to four years and was extended by one quarter each subsequent quarter 
until it reached seven years at June 30, 2009. this change was enacted to further reduce distribution volatility, 
as well as to better preserve and grow the endowment corpus over time. in addition, departments may also use 
withdrawals from funds functioning as endowment to support capital expenditures and operations. 

endowment spending rate distributions totaled $244 million, $227 million and $205 million and withdrawals 
from funds functioning as endowment totaled $46 million, $20 million and $57 million in 2009, 2008 and 
2007, respectively. total spending rate distributions combined with withdrawals from funds functioning as en-
dowment averaged 5.9 percent, 4.0 percent and 5.0 percent of the fair value of the university endowment Fund 
for 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. over the past ten years, total spending rate distributions combined with 
withdrawals from funds functioning as endowment averaged 6.5 percent.

Management’s discussion and Analysis | unAudited
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cApItAL And dEbt ActIvItIES 
one of the critical factors in continuing the quality of the university’s academic, research and clinical programs 
is the development and renewal of capital assets. the university continues to implement its long-range plan to 
modernize its complement of older facilities, along with balanced investment in new construction.

capital asset additions totaled $844 million in 2009, as compared to $701 million in 2008. capital asset ad-
ditions primarily represent replacement, renovation and new construction of academic, research, clinical and 
athletic facilities, as well as significant investments in equipment, including information technology. current year 
capital asset additions were primarily funded with net assets and gifts designated for capital purposes of $592 mil-
lion, as well as debt proceeds of $240 million and state capital appropriations of $12 million.

in June 2009, the university completed the acquisition of the former Pfizer pharmaceutical research complex for 
approximately $114 million, which includes liabilities of approximately $6 million that were assumed as part of 
the purchase. this investment, which was funded primarily with health System resources, provides a transfor-
mational opportunity for the university to develop and utilize the 30 buildings and 174 acres of land acquired. 
Known collectively as the north campus Research complex, these buildings with nearly 2 million square feet of 
sophisticated laboratory facilities and administrative space will provide much needed space for current research 
as well as help attract new projects and faculty to the university. this acquisition is classified as property held for 
future use at June 30, 2009 and committees with campus-wide representation are in the process of developing a 
strategy for the optimum utilization of this complex. 

construction in progress, which totaled $786 million at June 30, 2009 and $647 million at June 30, 2008, in-
cludes important new facilities for patient care, research, instruction, athletics and student residential life.

At June 30, 2009, construction continues on a new facility for c.S. Mott children’s hospital and Women’s  
hospital to meet increasing patient demand and accommodate future research, education and clinical care innova-
tions. the new state-of-the art facility will further enhance specialty services for newborns, children and pregnant 
women, not offered anywhere else in Michigan, including programs for level i pediatric trauma, pediatric liver 
transplant, and craniofacial anomalies as well as high-risk pregnancy and specialty gynecological services. With  
a clinic building of nine floors and an inpatient building of twelve floors, the new facility will be approximately 
1.1 million square feet. After the new facility is completed in 2012, the existing c.S. Mott children’s hospital 
and Women’s hospital will be used to benefit the entire health System. 

construction also continues on a new state-of-the art eye center that will more than double capacity for eye care, 
research and education, as well as give scientists more space to search for a cure for type 1 diabetes. the new 
facility, which includes eight floors for clinics, surgery and research, will serve the growing number of patients 
who need advanced eye care and access to the latest research discoveries. large windows and a full wall of glass 
panels on the building’s façade will allow natural light to fill the clinics and common space, of particular benefit 
to patients whose vision is impaired. clinics will have space for patient education and comfortable waiting areas 
designed to aid patient flow. Research areas will feature open laboratories to encourage collaboration and pro-
vide flexibility as research projects grow. the new facility will also house the Brehm center for type 1 diabetes 
Research and Analysis, which will provide opportunities for collaboration among diabetes and vision scientists, 
particularly on vision loss caused by diabetes. the new eye center, which is expected to open in 2010, will be con-
nected to the current Kellogg eye center tower.

A comprehensive renovation and expansion of Michigan Stadium continues. Renovation to the stadium itself 
will result in improvements in the number and quality of restrooms and concession stands; wider aisles, handrails 
and additional entry and exit points for improved crowd circulation and safety; and additional dedicated seating 
for fans with impaired mobility. the expansion will add 400,000 square feet encompassed by two multi-story 
masonry structures on both the east and west sides of the stadium, leaving the end zones open. the structures 
include 83 suites and approximately 3,000 club seats. construction is taking place in the off-season so as not to 
interrupt the home football schedule and is expected to be completed before the 2010 season.
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construction of the first new student residence hall in more than 40 years on the Ann Arbor campus continues. 
the north Quad Residential and Academic complex combines sophisticated classroom and academic space with 
residence space for 460 students. the result will be an environment in which interactions among students and 
faculty flow from classrooms to hallways to faculty offices to living quarters. the living spaces, like the whole of 
the project, are designed to facilitate student learning, and student social and programmatic needs. the academic 
space will provide classrooms, studios and offices for five information and communications-related university 
programs. the university expects this new facility to be completed in Summer 2010.

Renovation of the Stockwell Residence hall serves to meet the contemporary and future needs of students, while 
preserving the building’s historic character. dining services, formerly located within the building, will be provided 
in the new hill dining center freeing room to create meeting and community spaces for student interaction 
and living and learning activities. in addition, the building’s infrastructure is being thoroughly upgraded, from 
high-speed network access to renovated bath facilities, accessibility improvements, and new plumbing, heating, 
cooling, ventilation, fire detection and fire suppression systems. this renovation will be completed in time for the 
Fall 2009 semester.

Renovation and expansion projects completed in 2009 include the Mosher-Jordan Residence hall and hill din-
ing center, Flint Student housing Facility, Stephen M. Ross School of Business and Alumni Memorial hall 
Museum of Art. 

the expansion and comprehensive renovation of the Mosher-Jordan Residence hall provides a new dining center 
and preserves the existing historic areas and details, while creating new community environments by reconfigur-
ing current spaces. A new, multi-level lobby and entrance were created to provide a single point of entry for resi-
dents and visitors, as well as centralized services for students in both houses of Mosher-Jordan. the infrastructure 
was upgraded to include new plumbing, elevators, heating, ventilation, fire detection and suppression systems, 
high-speed network access, renovated bath facilities and accessibility improvements. 

the first student housing facility on the Flint campus provides accommodations for approximately 300 students. 
the facility consists of one, two and four bedroom units, which include handicap accessible units. All units con-
tain one or two bathrooms, a kitchen and living room. the first floor of the facility provides communal living 
and learning space for residents.

the new facility for the Stephen M. Ross School of Business encompasses 270,000 square feet that houses state-
of-the-art classrooms, an auditorium and colloquiums, faculty offices, student service activities space, and a cen-
tral gathering space providing seating areas and a food court. 

the Museum of Art’s historic home, Alumni Memorial hall, underwent a transformative facility expansion and 
restoration. the expansion nearly doubled the hall’s size to address current space needs and allow for future 
growth in collections and programming, while the restoration addressed needed infrastructure improvements. 
the addition consists of three floors with a lower level and now provides space for galleries, collections, exhibi-
tions, classrooms and administration. 

the university takes its financial stewardship responsibility seriously and works hard to manage its financial 
resources effectively, including the prudent use of debt to finance capital projects. A strong debt rating is an 
important indicator of the university’s success in this area. during May 2009, Moody’s investors Service, inc. 
(“Moody’s”) affirmed its highest credit rating (Aaa) for bonds backed by a broad revenue pledge based on the 
university’s extremely strong credit fundamentals, including significant financial resources, strong market po-
sition and consistent operating performance derived from a well diversified revenue base. Standard & Poor’s 
Ratings Services (“Standard & Poor’s”) also affirmed its highest credit rating (AAA) based on the university’s 
national reputation for excellence, strong financial resources, positive financial performance, exceptional record 
of fundraising, and manageable debt burden and capital plan. only two other public universities have received 
the highest credit ratings from both Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s. 

Management’s discussion and Analysis | unAudited
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long-term debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2009, and the type of revenue it is supported by, is sum-
marized as follows:

 Beginning   Ending

(in millions) Balance Additions Reductions Balance

Commercial Paper:

  General revenues $ 137 $ 21 $ 55 $  103

Bonds and Notes:    

  General revenues  459  315  21  753

  Hospital revenues  552    12  540

  Faculty Group Practice revenues  92    3  89

  Student residences revenues  2      2

 $  1,242  $  336  $  91  $  1,487 

the university maintains a combination of fixed and variable rate debt with effective interest rates that averaged 
2.2 percent in 2009 and 3.4 percent in 2008. consistent with the university’s capital and debt financing plans, 
total outstanding debt increased $245 million, or 20 percent, to $1.5 billion at June 30, 2009, while interest 
expense decreased 25 percent, to $25 million. 

the university utilizes commercial paper, backed by a general revenue pledge, to provide interim financing 
for its capital improvement program. outstanding commercial paper is converted to long-term debt financing, 
as appropriate, within the normal course of business. At June 30, 2009 and 2008, commercial paper totaled  
$103 million and $137 million, respectively, and is included in current liabilities. during 2009, the university 
issued $21 million of commercial paper to fund new construction projects. 

during 2009, the university issued $307 million in fixed and variable rate general revenue bonds (Series 2009A, 
Series 2009B and Series 2009d) with a net original issue premium of $8 million. Bond proceeds were used  
to convert $51 million of commercial paper to long-term debt and provide $218 million for capital projects 
including the c.S. Mott children’s and Women’s hospitals, Michigan Stadium Renovation and expansion, and 
north Quad Residential and Academic complex. Bond proceeds will also be used to refund $46 million of Series 
2005B general revenue bonds in July 2009, which as a result are included in the current portion of bonds payable 
at June 30, 2009. of the total bond issue, $119 million is variable rate debt, $98 million is fixed rate debt and 
$90 million is fixed rate taxable Build America Bonds.

the university’s variable rate bonds are subject to remarketing and, in accordance with gASB interpretation no. 
1, are classified as current liabilities unless supported by long-term liquidity arrangements, such as lines of credit 
or standby bond purchase agreements, which could refinance the debt on a long-term basis. in the event that debt 
is put back to the university by the debt holder, management believes that it will be remarketed within a reason-
able amount of time. the university’s strong credit rating facilitates the remarketing of its debt. in addition, the 
university maintains three remarketing agents to achieve a wide distribution of its variable rate debt. in 2009, the 
university experienced the failed remarketing of $47 million of its variable rate bonds, which were subsequently 
remarketed within ten days.
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obLIGAtIonS For poStEmpLoymEnt bEnEFItS 
the university implemented gASB Statement no. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for 
Postemployment Benefits Other than Pensions, during 2008. this Statement requires accrual-based measurement 
and recognition of the cost of postemployment benefits during the periods when employees render their services. 
Previously, the university recognized obligations for most postemployment benefits as they were paid. 

using current actuarial assumptions, and presuming a continuation of the current level of benefits, the uni-
versity’s liability for postemployment benefits obligations totaled $1.56 billion and $1.49 billion at June 30, 2009 
and 2008, respectively. Since a portion of retiree medical services will be provided by the university’s health 
System, this liability is net of the related margin and fixed costs of providing those services which totaled  
$199 million and $201 million at June 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

By implementing a series of health benefit initiatives over the past few years, the university has favorably impact-
ed its liability for postemployment benefits obligations by $215 million. in accordance with gASB Statement no. 
45, the university’s liability for postemployment benefits obligations at June 30, 2009 does not reflect anticipated 
Medicare Part d prescription drug subsidies for future years of $143 million.

nEt ASSEtS
net assets represent the residual interest in the university’s assets after liabilities are deducted. the composition 
of the university’s net assets at June 30, 2009 and 2008 is summarized as follows

(in millions)  2009  2008

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt $ 3,276 $ 3,030

Restricted:

  Nonexpendable:

    Permanent endowment corpus  1,144  1,071

  Expendable:

    Net appreciation of permanent endowments  808  1,492

    Funds functioning as endowment  1,291  1,561

    Restricted for operations and other  606  680

Unrestricted  1,542  2,921

  $ 8,667 $ 10,755

net assets invested in capital assets represent the university’s capital assets net of accumulated depreciation and 
outstanding principal balances of debt attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of those as-
sets. the $246 million increase reflects the university’s continued development and renewal of its capital assets in 
accordance with its long-range capital plan.

Restricted nonexpendable net assets represent the historical value (corpus) of gifts to the university’s permanent 
endowment funds. the $73 million increase primarily represents new gifts. Restricted expendable net assets are 
subject to externally imposed stipulations governing their use. this category of net assets includes net appreciation 
of permanent endowments, funds functioning as endowment and net assets restricted for operations, facilities 
and student loan programs. Restricted expendable net assets totaled $2.7 billion at June 30, 2009, as compared to 
$3.7 billion at June 30, 2008. this decrease is primarily due to investment market conditions. 
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Although unrestricted net assets are not subject to externally imposed stipulations, all of the university’s unre-
stricted net assets have been designated for various academic and research programs and initiatives, as well as 
capital projects. At June 30, 2009 unrestricted net assets included funds functioning as endowment of $2.6 billion 
offset by unfunded obligations for postemployment benefits of $1.6 billion. At June 30, 2008, unrestricted net 
assets included funds functioning as endowment of $3.3 billion offset by unfunded obligations for postemploy-
ment benefits of $1.5 billion. 

StAtEmEnt oF rEvEnuES, ExpEnSES And cHAnGES In nEt ASSEtS
the statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net assets presents the university’s results of operations. in 
accordance with gASB reporting principles, revenues and expenses are classified as either operating or nonoperat-
ing. A comparison of the university’s revenues, expenses and changes in net assets for the three years ended June 
30, 2009 is summarized as follows:

 
(in millions)  2009   2008  2007

Operating revenues:

  Student tuition and fees, net of scholarship allowances $   826.3 $  791.2 $  718.7 

  Sponsored programs  922.2  853.2  823.7

  Patient care revenues and managed care premiums  2,220.6  2,105.4  1,983.6

  Other   344.4  354.8  309.4

  4,313.5  4,104.6  3,835.4

Operating expenses  5,094.2  4,820.0  4,433.6

    Operating loss  (780.7)  (715.4)  (598.2)

Nonoperating and other revenues (expenses):

  State educational appropriations   373.8  404.0  332.4

  Private gifts for operating activities  96.5  136.7  132.8

  Net investment (loss) income  (1,851.2)  621.9  1,572.6 

  Interest expense   (25.1)  (33.6)  (30.6) 

  State capital appropriations  12.2  11.8  6.4

  Endowment and capital gifts and grants  88.4  160.1  137.6

  Other  (1.6)  (21.1)  60.0

    Nonoperating and other (expenses) revenues, net  (1,307.0)  1,279.8  2,211.2

Implementation of GASB Statement No. 45, postemployment

  benefits obligations as of July 1, 2007    (1,306.9)    

  

(Decrease) increase in net assets  (2,087.7)  (742.5)  1,613.0

Net assets, beginning of year  10,754.6  11,497.1  9,884.1

Net assets, end of year $ 8,666.9 $ 10,754.6 $ 11,497.1

one of the university’s greatest strengths is the diverse streams of revenue that supplement its student tuition and 
fees, including private support from individuals, foundations and corporations, along with government and other 
sponsored programs, state appropriations and investment income. the university continues to aggressively seek 
funding from all possible sources consistent with its mission in order to supplement student tuition and prudently 
manage the financial resources realized from these efforts to fund its operating activities. 



44

the following is a graphic illustration of revenues by source, both operating and nonoperating, which are used to 
fund the university’s operating activities for the year ended June 30, 2009 (amounts are presented in thousands 
of dollars). Significant recurring sources of the university’s revenues are considered nonoperating, as defined by 
gASB, such as state appropriations, private gifts and distributions from investments.
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FiScAl YeAR 2009 ReVenueS FoR oPeRAting ActiVitieS
excluding ReVenueS FRoM the uniVeRSitY’S heAlth SYSteM

the university measures its performance both for the university as a whole and for the university without its 
health System and other similar activities. the exclusion of the health System allows a clearer view of the op-
erations of the schools and colleges, as well as central administration. the following is a graphic illustration of 
university revenues by source, both operating and nonoperating, which are used to fund operating activities other 
than the health System, for the year ended June 30, 2009 (amounts are presented in thousands of dollars).
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tuition and state appropriations are the primary sources of funding for the university’s academic programs. there 
is a direct relationship between the growth or reduction in state support and the university’s ability to restrain 
tuition fee increases. together, net student tuition and fees and base state appropriations increased 3 percent, or 
$39 million, to $1.20 billion in 2009, as compared to 6 percent, or $70 million, to $1.16 billion in 2008. 

downturns in state of Michigan tax revenues continue to put pressure on the state budget. For the three years 
ended June 30, 2009, state educational appropriations revenue consisted of the following components:

 
(in millions) 2009  2008 2007

Base appropriations $ 373.8 $ 370.1 $ 372.8

Net restoration (rescission)    33.9  (40.4)

 $ 373.8 $ 404.0 $ 332.4

due to ongoing pressures and volatility in the state budget, the university’s base appropriations continue to be 
constrained, and increased only $1 million or 0.3 percent, over the past two years. the $34 million net restoration 
in 2008 represents the return of part of a 2007 mid-year rescission. the $40 million mid-year rescission in 2007 
consists of a reduction in base appropriations of $6 million and a deferral of $34 million until 2008. 

to offset constrained base state appropriations, net student tuition and fees revenue has increased 15 percent, 
or $108 million, over the past two years. For the three years ended June 30, 2009, net student tuition and fees 
revenue consisted of the following components:

 
(in millions) 2009  2008 2007

Student tuition and fees $ 1,029.2 $ 975.3 $  891.6

Scholarship allowances  (202.9)  (184.1)  (172.9)

 $ 826.3 $ 791.2 $ 718.7

in 2009, net student tuition and fees revenue increased 4 percent, or $35 million, to $826 million, which reflects 
a 6 percent, or $54 million, increase in gross tuition and fee revenues offset by a 10 percent, or $19 million, in-
crease in scholarship allowances. tuition rate increases in 2009 were 5.6 percent for all undergraduate students on 
the Ann Arbor campus, with a 6.5 percent tuition rate increase for the dearborn campus, a 5.9 percent tuition 
rate increase for the Flint campus and a 5 percent increase for most graduate tuition rates. the university also 
experienced a modest growth in the number of students.

in 2008, net student tuition and fees revenue increased 10 percent, or $73 million, to $791 million, which re-
flects a 9 percent, or $84 million, increase in gross tuition and fee revenues offset by a 6 percent, or $11 million, 
increase in scholarship allowances. tuition rate increases in 2008 were 7.4 percent for all undergraduate students 
on the Ann Arbor campus, with a 7.9 percent tuition rate increase for the dearborn campus, a 6.4 percent tuition 
rate increase for the Flint campus and a 5 percent increase for most graduate tuition rates. the university also 
experienced a modest growth in the number of students.

despite constrained base state appropriations, the university’s tuition increases have been among the lowest in the 
state and in the Big ten, which reflects a commitment to affordable higher education for Michigan families. At 
the same time, the university has also increased scholarship allowances, and scholarship and fellowship expenses, 
to benefit students in financial need. 

While tuition and state appropriations fund a large percentage of university costs, private support is becoming 
increasingly essential to the university’s academic distinction. Private gifts for other than capital and permanent en-
dowment purposes totaled $97 million in 2009, as compared to $137 million in 2008 and $133 million in 2007.
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the university receives revenues for sponsored programs from various government agencies and private sources, 
which normally provide for both direct and indirect costs to perform these sponsored activities. Revenues for 
sponsored programs increased 8 percent, or $69 million, to $922 million in 2009, as compared to an increase of 
4 percent, or $30 million, to $853 million in 2008. A significant portion of the university’s sponsored programs 
revenues relate to federal research and its growth is consistent with the national trends of increasing activity after 
several years of stabilized federal research activity.

Patient care revenues and managed care premiums for the three years ended June 30, 2009 are summarized as 
follows:

 
(in millions)  2009   2008  2007

Patient care revenues $ 2,220.6 $ 2,105.4 $ 1,786.8

Managed care premiums       196.8

 $ 2,220.6 $ 2,105.4 $ 1,983.6

Patient care revenues are principally generated within the university’s hospitals and ambulatory care facilities 
under contractual arrangements with governmental payers and private insurers. Patient care revenues increased  
5 percent, or $115 million, to $2.2 billion in 2009, as compared to an increase of 18 percent, or $319 million, to 
$2.1 billion in 2008. the increased revenues for both years primarily resulted from a growth in both outpatient 
and inpatient volume, as well as increased reimbursement rates from third party payers. Managed care premiums 
in 2007 represent subscription revenue recognized by M-cARe from contracts associated with employers other 
than the university. M-cARe was sold in december 2006.

net investment loss totaled $1.9 billion in 2009, compared to net investment income of $622 million in 2008 
and $1.6 billion in 2007. the financial market turmoil and wealth destruction that followed the fall of lehman 
Brothers in September 2008 exceeded any since the great depression. this resulted in broad based losses across 
the university’s public and private equity and equity-like investments, with the largest losses occurring in areas 
that had experienced the greatest gains in recent years, such as real estate, energy and other alternative invest-
ments. despite the losses in 2009, these assets remain the university’s highest performing investments over longer 
time periods. Fixed income investments in the university’s working capital and long-term pools performed in line 
with expectations and proved to be a stabilizing factor on the university’s overall investment portfolio.

it was also a difficult year for public equities in 2008, but the university’s returns in nonmarketable limited part-
nerships and absolute return strategies, aided by strong returns from its energy holdings and hedging strategies, 
resulted in positive investment income. Prior to 2008, net investment income was primarily the result of strong 
performance of the university’s nonmarketable limited partnerships, non-u.S. dollar equities and absolute return 
strategies, which provided consistent positive returns during 2007, combined with a meaningful increase in in-
vested balances over the same time period. 

the university’s endowment investment policies are designed to maximize long-term total return, while its in-
come distribution policy is designed to preserve the value of the endowment and generate a predictable stream 
of spendable income.

Private gifts for permanent endowment purposes totaled $60 million in 2009, as compared to $94 million in 
2008 and $73 million in 2007. capital gifts and grants totaled $28 million in 2009, as compared to $66 million 
in 2008 and $65 million in 2007. over the past three years, major capital gifts have been received in support of 
the university’s wide-ranging building initiatives, which include the Stephen M. Ross School of Business, health 
System, intercollegiate Athletics, law School and college of engineering.
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in addition to revenue diversification, the university continues to make cost containment an ongoing priority. 
this is necessary as the university continues to face significant financial pressures, particularly in the areas of com-
pensation and benefits, which represent 66 percent of total expenses, as well as in the areas of energy, technology 
and ongoing maintenance of facilities and infrastructure. 

A comparative summary of the university’s expenses for the three years ended June 30, 2009 is as follows (amounts 
in millions):

 
(in millions)  2009  2008  2007

Operating:

  Compensation and benefits $ 3,390.5 66% $ 3,234.2 67% $ 2,961.9  66%

  Supplies and services  1,255.1 24  1,167.6 24  1,103.9 25

  Depreciation   341.5 7  319.4 6  284.1 6

  Scholarships and fellowships  107.1 2  98.8 2  83.7 2

  5,094.2 99  4,820.0 99  4,433.6 99

Nonoperating:

  Interest  25.1 1  33.6 1  30.6 1

 $ 5,119.3 100% $ 4,853.6 100% $ 4,464.2 100%

the university is committed to recruiting and retaining outstanding faculty and staff and the compensation 
package is one way to successfully compete with peer institutions and nonacademic employers. the resources ex-
pended for compensation and benefits increased 5 percent, or $156 million, to $3.4 billion in 2009, as compared 
to a 9 percent increase, or $272 million, to $3.2 billion in 2008. of this 2008 increase, $97 million represents 
additional operating expenses with the implementation of gASB Statement no. 45. 

health care benefits are one of the most significant employee benefits and over the past several years, the univer-
sity has implemented several initiatives to better control its rate of increase, encourage employees to choose the 
lowest cost insurance plan that meets their needs and share with employees a small portion of health insurance 
cost increases. 

the university utilizes a single pharmacy benefit administrator to manage all pharmacy benefits with univer-
sity oversight. the university also actively promotes and manages generic drug utilization and has achieved a  
71 percent generic dispensing rate in 2009, as compared to 68 percent in 2008 and 60 percent in 2007. in 
January 2006, the university unbundled pharmacy benefit claim processing and mail order services and selected 
separate vendors for each service to achieve better discounts for retail and mail order pricing arrangements and 
additional rebates.

compared to most employers, the university is in an unique position to utilize internal experts to advise and 
guide its health care and drug plans. For example, the university utilizes a Pharmacy Benefits Advisory commit-
tee, which consists of internal experts such as health System physicians, School of Pharmacy faculty and an on-
staff pharmacist, to monitor the safety and effectiveness of covered medications as well as to optimize appropriate 
prescribing, dispensing and cost effective use of prescription drugs. 

the university’s Mhealthy initiative is a campus-wide effort to encourage healthier living through increased ac-
tivity, attention to physical safety in the workplace, and other health and wellness efforts. the health and wellness 
programs offered by the university through this initiative have resulted in greater integration of evidence-based 
wellness programming into the university’s benefit programs. 
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over the past several years, Mhealthy has offered a broad spectrum of programs designed to support healthy 
lifestyles. For example, the Focus on Medicines program offers employees, retirees and dependents taking seven 
or more prescription medications a comprehensive medication review with a university pharmacist to optimize 
treatment and reduce drug interaction risks. the Focus on diabetes program reduces or eliminates co-pays for 
selected medications for employees and dependents who have diabetes to encourage the proper and sustained use 
of specific drugs that help manage their diabetes and to help prevent or reduce the long-term complications of 
the disease.

during 2009, Mhealthy completed the first university-wide health risk assessment, with more than 17,500 
faculty and staff completing an online health risk questionnaire and participating in a wellness screening at sites 
throughout the university. data gathered from this assessment will be used to design programs to address the 
greatest areas of community health risk and thereby reduce the costs incurred by the university.

these initiatives reflect the reality of the national landscape, while remaining true to the commitment we make 
to our employees for a robust benefits package.

Supplies and services expenses increased 7 percent, or $88 million, to $1.3 billion in 2009, as compared to an 
increase of 6 percent, or $64 million, to $1.2 billion in 2008. the increases in 2009 and 2008 are primarily due 
to increases in patient activity experienced by the health System, sponsored research activity and utilities.

in addition to their natural (object) classification, it is also informative to review operating expenses by function. 
A comparative summary of the university’s expenses by functional classification for the three years ended June 30, 
2009 is as follows (amounts in millions):

 
  2009  2008  2007

Operating:

  Instruction $ 820.3 16% $ 784.7 16% $ 727.3 16%

  Research  622.6 12  571.7 12  540.6 12

  Public service  126.5 2  121.9 2  103.9 2

  Institutional and academic support  485.2 10  448.7 9  378.7 9   

  Auxiliary enterprises:

    Patient and managed care  2,164.5 42  2,046.0 42  1,860.6 42

    Other  148.6 3  179.6 4  198.5 4

  Operations and maintenance of plant  277.9 5  249.2 5  256.3 6

  Depreciation  341.5 7  319.4 7  284.0 6

  Scholarships and fellowships  107.1 2  98.8 2  83.7 2

  5,094.2 99  4,820.0 99  4,433.6 99

Nonoperating:

  Interest  25.1 1  33.6 1  30.6 1

 $ 5,119.3 100% $ 4,853.6 100% $ 4,464.2 100%

instruction and public service expenses increased 4 percent, or $40 million, to $947 million in 2009, as compared 
to 9 percent, or $75 million, to $907 million in 2008. these increases are consistent with the small level of growth 
in the related revenue sources, as well as the implementation of gASB Statement no. 45, which increased instruc-
tion and public service expenses by 2 percent in 2008.
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to measure its total volume of research expenditures, the university considers research expenses, included in 
the above table, as well as research related facilities and administrative expenses, research initiative and start-up 
expenses, and research equipment purchases. these amounts aggregated $1.017 billion in 2009, as compared to 
$929 million in 2008 and $881 million in 2007. this represents an increase of 15 percent, or $136 million, from 
2007 to 2009, which includes the impact of the implementation of gASB Statement no. 45, which increased the 
total volume of research expenditures by 2 percent in 2008. 

Patient and managed care expenses increased 6 percent, or $119 million, to $2.2 billion in 2009, as compared to 
a 10 percent, or $185 million increase in 2008. the increases in 2009 and 2008 are the result of increased patient 
activity, including costs of medical supplies and pharmaceuticals. the increase in 2008 as compared to 2007 also 
reflects the implementation of gASB Statement no. 45, offset by the sale of M-cARe effective december 31, 
2006.

total scholarships and fellowships provided to students aggregated $327 million in 2009, as compared to $300 
million in 2008 and $272 million in 2007, an increase of 20 percent over the past two years. tuition, housing 
and fees revenues are reported net of aid applied to students’ accounts, while amounts paid directly to students 
are reported as scholarship and fellowship expense. Scholarships and fellowships for the three years ended June 
30, 2009 are summarized as follows:

 
(in millions)  2009   2008  2007

Paid directly to students $ 107.1 $ 98.8 $ 83.7

Applied to tuition and fees   202.9  184.1  172.9

Applied to University Housing  16.5  16.7  15.7

 $ 326.5 $ 299.6 $ 272.3

the following graphic illustrations present total expenses by function, with and without the university’s health 
System and other similar activities:

FiScAl YeAR 2009 exPenSeS BY Function FiScAl YeAR 2009 exPenSeS BY Function
excluding exPenSeS FRoM the  
uniVeRSitY’S heAlth SYSteM

* Excludes expenses from the University’s  
 Health System of $2.2 billion.
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Instruction 28%
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Scholarships and fellowships 4%
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StAtEmEnt oF cASH FLowS
the statement of cash flows provides additional information about the university’s financial results by reporting 
the major sources and uses of cash. A comparative summary of the statement of cash flows for the years ended 
June 30, 2009 and 2008 is as follows:

 
(in millions)  2009  2008

Cash received from operations $ 4,335.2 $ 4,109.3

Cash expended for operations  (4,699.3)  (4,391.7)

Net cash used in operating activities  (364.1)  (282.4)

Net cash provided by investing activities  256.1  189.6

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities  (575.0)  (478.6)

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities  546.3  585.0

  Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  (136.7)  13.6

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  495.1  481.5

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 358.4 $ 495.1

cash received from operations primarily consists of student tuition, sponsored program grants and contracts, 
and patient care revenues. Significant sources of cash provided by noncapital financing activities, as defined by 
gASB, include state appropriations and private gifts used to fund operating activities. cash and cash equivalents 
decreased $137 million in 2009, as compared to an increase of $14 million in 2008.

EconomIc FActorS tHAt wILL AFFEct tHE FuturE 
the university continues to successfully face significant financial challenges to its academic programs, stemming 
from the State’s uncertain financial circumstances. given the continuation of this difficult economic environ-
ment, it is especially impressive that the university maintains the highest credit ratings of Moody’s (Aaa) and 
Standard & Poor’s (AAA). Achieving and maintaining the highest credit ratings provides the university a high 
degree of flexibility in securing capital funds on the most competitive terms. this flexibility, along with ongoing 
efforts toward revenue diversification and cost containment, will enable the university to provide the necessary 
resources to support a level of excellence in service to students, patients, the research community, the state and 
the nation. 

A crucial element to the university’s future continues to be our strong relationship with the state of Michigan. 
historically, there has been a direct relationship between the growth or reduction of state support and the univer-
sity’s ability to control tuition increases, as reduced growth in state appropriations generally necessitates increased 
tuition levels. in adopting the the budget for 2010, the university anticipated a 3 percent decrease in state edu-
cational appropriations. to support the university’s commitment to both academic excellence and accessibility, 
the university’s budget for 2010 includes a moderate increase in tuition rates along with an increased investment 
in financial aid for undergraduates. Based on state revenue forecasts, the university is also preparing for further 
declines in state support for higher education in 2011 and beyond. 

the university continues to execute its long-range plan to modernize and expand its complement of older facili-
ties while adding key new facilities for instruction, research, patient care, and residential life. this strategy ad-
dresses the university’s growth and the continuing effects of technology on teaching and research methodologies. 
Authorized costs to complete construction and other projects totaled $1.17 billion at June 30, 2009. Funding for 
these projects is anticipated to include $1.04 billion from gifts and net assets designated for capital purposes as 
well as future borrowings, $126 million from the utilization of unexpended debt proceeds and $4 million from 
the State Building Authority. While the State continues to support the university’s systematic renewal of core 
academic facilities, economic pressures may also affect the State’s future support.
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the university is developing a strategy for the optimum utilization of the newly acquired north campus Re-
search complex, which is classified as property held for future use at June 30, 2009. this investment is expected 
to result in significant economic benefits for both the university and the surrounding region by making strategic 
use of university resources, and strengthening Michigan’s life sciences industry. When fully developed this com-
plex could enable the university to create up to 3,000 new faculty and staff positions over the next ten years. 

the university will continue to employ its long-term investment strategy to maximize total returns, at an appro-
priate level of risk, while utilizing a spending rate policy to preserve endowment capital and insulate the univer-
sity’s operations from temporary market volatility. 

While the university’s hospitals and health centers are well positioned to maintain a strong financial position in 
the near term, ongoing constraints on revenue are expected due to fiscal pressures from employers and federal and 
state governments. Management believes that much of the payment pressure can be offset by growth in patient 
volume and continued efforts to contain certain costs. 

As a labor-intensive organization, the university faces competitive pressures related to attracting and retaining 
faculty and staff. Moreover, consistent with the national landscape, the cost of the university’s health benefits for 
its employees and retirees has increased dramatically over the past several years, with the increasing cost of medi-
cal care and prescription drugs of particular concern. to address these challenges, the university has successfully 
taken and will continue to take proactive steps to respond to the challenges of rising costs while protecting the 
quality of the overall benefit package. 

After careful review by top clinical and health policy faculty and financial experts, the university announced a 
new health benefits cost sharing program which will be phased in over two years, commencing January 1, 2010. 
once fully implemented, the university’s overall contribution toward the health care of employees, retirees and 
dependents will be 70 percent of the total cost of premiums, co-pays and deductibles. down from the current 
80 percent overall contribution, the new target is more in line with average contributions of peer universities and 
health systems. the percentage applied to each individual depends on the plan choice and whether dependents 
are covered. under the new structure, contribution amounts will be based on salary bands which are designed to 
lessen the impact on lower paid employees and retirees. in addition, the university’s health premium contribu-
tion for part-time employees working between 20 and 31 hours per week will be reduced to 80 percent of the 
contribution made for full-time staff in the lowest salary band. once fully implemented in 2011, these changes 
are expected to reduce the university’s annual health care expenses by approximately $31 million. Beginning 
January 1, 2010, newly hired faculty and staff will also be subject to a one year waiting period before receiving the 
university’s ten percent retirement savings plan contribution. this change is expected to result in annual savings 
of $11 million.

While it is not possible to predict the ultimate results, management believes that the university’s financial condi-
tion will remain strong.
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Financial Statements
conSoLIdAtEd StAtEmEnt oF nEt ASSEtS

 June 30,
(in thousands) 2009 2008
Assets 
Current Assets:
  Cash and cash equivalents $ 358,373 $ 495,137
  Operating investments  345,207  686,218
  Investments for capital activities  541,577  697,269
  Investments for student loan activities  31,483  29,869
  Investment trade settlements receivable  128  56,289
  Accounts receivable, net  434,798  443,375
  Current portion of notes and pledges receivable, net  64,055  73,832
  Current portion of prepaid expenses and other assets  49,401  54,037
    Total Current Assets  1,825,022  2,536,026
Noncurrent Assets:  
  Endowment, life income and other investments  6,215,286  7,854,562
  Notes and pledges receivable, net  219,823  233,572
  Prepaid expenses and other assets  21,425  17,153
  Capital assets, net  4,627,498  4,129,830
    Total Noncurrent Assets  11,084,032  12,235,117
          Total Assets $ 12,909,054 $ 14,771,143

Liabilities and Net Assets  
Current Liabilities:  
  Accounts payable $ 184,595 $ 191,694
  Investment trade settlements payable  5,658  64,442
  Accrued compensation and other  305,563   297,725
  Deferred revenue  187,519  178,638
  Current portion of insurance and benefits reserves  67,133  64,117
  Current portion of obligations for postemployment benefits   58,401  60,792
  Commercial paper and current portion of bonds payable  178,690  172,939
  Long-term bonds payable subject to remarketing, net  652,285  706,870
  Deposits of affiliates and others  29,705  27,933
    Total Current Liabilities  1,669,549  1,765,150
Noncurrent Liabilities:  
  Accrued compensation  76,924  78,578   
  Insurance and benefits reserves  85,912  78,448
  Obligations for postemployment benefits  1,504,569  1,431,021
  Obligations under life income agreements  47,843  60,437
  Government loan advances  87,548  86,567
  Bonds payable  656,341  362,408
  Deposits of affiliates and other  113,393  153,860
    Total Noncurrent Liabilities  2,572,530  2,251,319
    Total Liabilities  4,242,079  4,016,469
  
Net Assets:  
  Invested in capital assets, net of related debt  3,275,855  3,030,110
  Restricted:  
    Nonexpendable  1,143,668  1,070,958
    Expendable  2,705,369  3,733,022
  Unrestricted  1,542,083  2,920,584
    Total Net Assets  8,666,975  10,754,674
          Total Liabilities and Net Assets $ 12,909,054 $ 14,771,143

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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conSoLIdAtEd StAtEmEnt oF rEvEnuES, ExpEnSES 
And cHAnGES In nEt ASSEtS

 Year Ended June 30,
(in thousands)  2009  2008
Operating Revenues 
Student tuition and fees $ 1,029,240 $ 975,316
Less scholarship allowances  202,946  184,095
  Net student tuition and fees  826,294  791,221
Federal grants and contracts  766,416  712,963
State and local grants and contracts  7,240  9,649
Nongovernmental sponsored programs  148,578  130,634
Sales and services of educational departments  117,690  138,484
Auxiliary enterprises:  
  Patient care revenues  2,220,551  2,105,439
  Student residence fees (net of scholarship allowances
    of $16,542,000 in 2009 and $16,701,000 in 2008)  81,391  74,759
  Other revenues  142,988  139,410
Student loan interest income and fees  2,334  2,049
          Total Operating Revenues   4,313,482  4,104,608
  
Operating Expenses  
Compensation and benefits  3,390,470  3,234,232
Supplies and services  1,255,078  1,167,616
Depreciation   341,462  319,351
Scholarships and fellowships  107,127  98,847
          Total Operating Expenses  5,094,137  4,820,046
  
  Operating loss  (780,655)  (715,438)
  
Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)  
State educational appropriations  373,816  404,003
Private gifts for other than capital and endowment purposes  96,529  136,713
Net investment (loss) income  (1,851,234)  621,878
Interest expense  (25,136)  (33,644)
          Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses), Net  (1,406,025)  1,128,950
  
  (Loss) income before other revenues (expenses)  (2,186,680)  413,512
  
Other Revenues (Expenses)  
State capital appropriations  12,244  11,796
Capital gifts and grants  27,791  66,372
Private gifts for permanent endowment purposes  60,602  93,777 
Implementation of GASB Statement No. 45,      
 postemployment benefits obligations as of July 1, 2007    (1,306,859)
Other  (1,656)  (21,065)
          Total Other Revenues (Expenses), Net  98,981  (1,155,979)
  
  Decrease in net assets  (2,087,699)  (742,467)
  
Net Assets, Beginning of Year  10,754,674  11,497,141
          Net Assets, End of Year $ 8,666,975 $ 10,754,674

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Financial Statements
conSoLIdAtEd StAtEmEnt oF cASH FLowS

 Year Ended June 30,

(in thousands) 2009 2008
Cash Flows From Operating Activities 
Student tuition and fees $ 826,536 $ 798,616
Federal, state and local grants and contracts  774,376  735,478
Nongovernmental sponsored programs  147,246  134,387
Sales and services of educational departments  260,275  275,134
Patient care revenues  2,228,907  2,073,439
Student residence fees  81,203  75,412
Payments to employees  (2,578,312)  (2,413,442)
Payments for benefits  (739,668)  (681,369)
Payments to suppliers  (1,258,755)  (1,182,195) 
Payments for scholarships and fellowships  (107,081)  (98,783)
Student loans issued  (15,488)  (15,866)
Student loans collected  14,319  14,700
Student loan interest and fees collected  2,334  2,049
       Net Cash Used in Operating Activities  (364,108)  (282,440) 
 
Cash Flows From Investing Activities  
Interest and dividends on investments, net  84,634  294,545
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments  4,635,466  5,039,730
Purchases of investments  (4,535,346)  (5,252,622)
Net decrease in cash equivalents from noncurrent investments   57,479  100,741
Net increase in deposits of affiliates and others  13,852  7,288
       Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities  256,085  189,682
  
Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing Activities  
State capital appropriations  22,379  1,773
Private gifts and other receipts  39,527  65,013
Proceeds from issuance of capital debt  336,440  393,770
Principal payments on capital debt  (90,893)  (193,644)
Interest payments on capital debt  (27,908)  (35,072)
Payments for bond refunding and related costs  (277)  (251) 
Purchases of capital assets  (855,834)  (710,638) 
Proceeds from sales of capital assets  1,501  483
       Net Cash Used in Capital and Related Financing Activities  (575,065)  (478,566)
  
Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities  
State educational appropriations   373,143  364,159
Private gifts and other receipts  173,729  217,599
Student direct lending receipts  299,404  253,462
Student direct lending disbursements  (298,857)  (255,765)
Amounts received for annuity and life income funds  5,034  15,029
Amounts paid to annuitants and life beneficiaries and related expenses  (6,129)  (6,992)
Other    (2,519)
       Net Cash Provided by Noncapital Financing Activities  546,324  584,973
  
  Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  (136,764)  13,649
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year  495,137  481,488
       Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year $ 358,373 $ 495,137

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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conSoLIdAtEd StAtEmEnt oF cASH FLowS | continued

 Year Ended June 30,

(in thousands) 2009 2008
Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash used in operating activities: 
  Operating loss $ (780,655) $ (715,438)
  Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash used in 
    operating activities:  
    Depreciation expense  341,462  319,351
    Changes in assets and liabilities:  
      Accounts receivable, net  (2,655)  (24,602)
      Prepaid expenses and other assets  (4,920)  2,841
      Accounts payable  (1,075)  (6,403)
      Accrued compensation and other  (1,302)  26,991
      Deferred revenue  8,881  13,343
      Insurance and benefits reserves  4,999  4,210 
      Obligations for postemployment benefits  71,157  97,267
Net cash used in operating activities  $  (364,108) $ (282,440)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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notes to consolidated Financial Statements
JunE 30, 2009 And 2008

notE 1 | orGAnIzAtIon And SummAry oF SIGnIFIcAnt AccountInG poLIcIES
Organization and Basis of Presentation: the university of Michigan (the “university”) is a state-supported 
institution with an enrollment of approximately 57,000 students on its three campuses. the financial statements 
include the individual schools, colleges and departments, the university of Michigan hospitals and health cen-
ters, Michigan health corporation (a wholly-owned corporation created to pursue joint venture and managed 
care initiatives) and Veritas insurance corporation (a wholly-owned captive insurance company). While the uni-
versity is a political subdivision of the state of Michigan, it is not a component unit of the State in accordance 
with the provisions of governmental Accounting Standards Board (“gASB”) Statement no. 14, The Financial 
Reporting Entity. the university is classified as a state instrumentality under internal Revenue code Section 115, 
and is also classified as a charitable organization under internal Revenue code Section 501(c)(3), and is therefore 
exempt from federal income taxes. certain activities of the university may be subject to taxation as unrelated 
business income under internal Revenue code Sections 511 to 514.

the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
united States of America, as prescribed by the gASB, and the American institute of certified Public Accountants’ 
Audit and Accounting guide, Audits of State and Local Governments. the statements of net assets, revenues, ex-
penses and changes in net assets, and of cash flows are reported on a consolidated basis, and all intra-university 
transactions are eliminated as required by gASB. the university has the option of applying pronouncements 
issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) after november 30, 1989, provided that such 
pronouncements do not conflict or contradict gASB pronouncements. the university has elected not to apply 
any FASB pronouncements issued after the applicable date. 

during 2009, the university implemented gASB Statement no. 49, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pol-
lution Remediation Obligations. this Statement establishes criteria to ascertain whether certain events result in 
a requirement for the university to estimate the components of any expected pollution remediation costs and 
determine whether these costs should be accrued as a liability or, if appropriate, capitalized. implementation of 
this Statement did not have a material impact on net assets.

during 2008, the university implemented gASB Statement no. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Em-
ployers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. this Statement requires accrual-based measurement and 
recognition of the cost of postemployment benefits during the periods when employees render their services. 
Previously, the university recorded obligations for most postemployment benefits as they were paid. 

the university elected to amortize its initial unfunded actuarial accrued liability of $1,306,859,000 over one 
year, the minimum period allowed by the Statement.  this amount is recorded as a one-time nonoperating ex-
pense in 2008 and represents the present value of the university’s obligations for postemployment benefits as of 
July 1, 2007. 

the financial statements of all controlled organizations are included in the university’s financial statements; af-
filiated organizations that are not controlled by the university, such as booster and alumni organizations, are not 
included.

net assets are categorized as:

•	 Invested	in	capital	assets,	net	of	related	debt:	Capital	assets,	net	of	accumulated	depreciation	and	outstanding	
principal balances of debt attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets.

•	 Restricted:	
nonexpendable – net assets subject to externally imposed stipulations that they be maintained permanently. 
Such net assets include the corpus portion (historical value) of gifts to the university’s permanent endowment 
funds and certain investment earnings stipulated by the donor to be reinvested permanently.
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expendable – net assets whose use by the university is subject to externally imposed stipulations that can be 
fulfilled by actions of the university pursuant to those stipulations or that expire by the passage of time. Such 
net assets include net appreciation of the university’s permanent endowment funds that have not been stipu-
lated by the donor to be reinvested permanently.

•	 Unrestricted:	Net	assets	that	are	not	subject	to	externally	imposed	stipulations.	Unrestricted	net	assets	may	
be designated for specific purposes by action of management or the Board of Regents or may otherwise be 
limited by contractual agreements with outside parties. Substantially all unrestricted net assets are designated 
for academic and research programs and initiatives, and capital programs.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: the accompanying financial statements have been prepared on 
the accrual basis. the university reports as a special purpose government entity engaged primarily in business 
type activities, as defined by gASB. Business type activities are those that are financed in whole or in part by fees 
charged to external parties for goods or services.

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the university considers all highly liquid investments purchased with 
a maturity of three months or less, to be cash equivalents. cash equivalents representing assets of the university’s 
endowment, life income and other investments are included in noncurrent investments as these funds are not 
used for operating purposes.

investments are reported in four categories in the statement of net assets. investments reported as endowment, 
life income and other investments are those funds invested in portfolios that are considered by management to be 
of a long duration. investments for student loan and capital activities are those funds that are intended to be used 
for these specific activities. All other investments are reported as operating investments.

investment trade settlements receivable and payable relate to investment transactions occurring on or before June 
30, which settle after such date.

investments in marketable securities are carried at fair value, as established by the major securities markets. Pur-
chases and sales of investments are accounted for on the trade date basis. investment income is recorded on the 
accrual basis. Realized and unrealized gains and losses are reported in investment income.

investments in nonmarketable limited partnerships are generally carried at fair value provided by the management 
of the investment partnerships as of March 31, 2009 and 2008, as adjusted by cash receipts, cash disbursements, 
and securities distributions through June 30, 2009 and 2008. in addition, the carrying amount of these invest-
ments is adjusted for June 30 information from management of the investment partnerships when necessary to 
provide a reasonable estimate of fair value as of June 30, 2009 and 2008. Because these investments are not readily 
marketable, the estimated value is subject to uncertainty and, therefore, may differ from the value that would have 
been used had a ready market for the investments existed and such differences could be material.

derivative instruments, such as financial futures, forward foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swaps held 
in investment portfolios, are recorded on the contract date and are carried at fair value using listed price quota-
tions or amounts that approximate fair value. to facilitate trading in financial futures, the university is required 
to post cash or securities to satisfy margin requirements of the exchange where such futures contracts are listed. 
the university monitors the required amount of cash and securities on deposit for financial futures transactions 
and withdraws or deposits cash or securities as necessary.

investments denominated in foreign currencies are translated into u.S. dollar equivalents using year-end spot 
foreign currency exchange rates. Purchases and sales of investments denominated in foreign currencies and related 
income are translated at spot exchange rates on the transaction dates. 
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notes to consolidated Financial Statements

notE 1 | orGAnIzAtIon And SummAry oF SIGnIFIcAnt AccountInG poLIcIES | continued
Accounts receivable are recorded net of a provision for uncollectible accounts receivable. the provision is based on 
management’s judgment of potential uncollectible amounts, which includes such factors as historical experience 
and type of receivable. 
 
the university receives pledges and bequests of financial support from corporations, foundations and individuals. 
Revenue is recognized when a pledge representing an unconditional promise to pay is received and all eligibility 
requirements, including time requirements, have been met. in the absence of such a promise, revenue is recog-
nized when the gift is received. endowment pledges do not meet eligibility requirements, as defined by gASB, 
and are not recorded as assets until the related gift is received.

unconditional promises to give that are expected to be collected in future years are recorded at the present value of 
the estimated future cash flows. the discounts on these amounts are computed using risk-free interest rates appli-
cable to the years in which the promises are made, commensurate with expected future payments. An allowance for 
uncollectible pledges receivable is provided based on management’s judgment of potential uncollectible amounts. 
the determination includes such factors as prior collection history, type of gift and nature of fundraising.

capital assets are recorded at cost or, if donated, at appraised value at the date of donation. depreciation of capi-
tal assets is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets, which range 
from four to forty years. the university does not capitalize works of art or historical treasures that are held for 
exhibition, education, research or public service. these collections are neither disposed of for financial gain nor 
encumbered in any means. Accordingly, such collections are not recognized or capitalized for financial statement 
purposes. 

deferred revenue consists primarily of cash received from grant and contract sponsors which has not yet been 
earned under the terms of the agreement. deferred revenue also includes amounts received in advance of an event, 
such as student tuition and advance ticket sales related to future fiscal years.

deposits of affiliates and others represent cash and invested funds held by the university as a result of agency re-
lationships with various groups. noncurrent deposits of affiliates represent the portion of endowment and similar 
funds held by the university on behalf of others.

the university holds life income funds for beneficiaries of the pooled income fund, charitable remainder trusts 
and the gift annuity program. these funds generally pay lifetime income to beneficiaries, after which the principal 
is made available to the university in accordance with donor intentions. All life income fund assets, including 
those held in trust, are recorded at fair value net of related liabilities for the present value of estimated future pay-
ments due to beneficiaries.

For donor restricted endowments, the uniform Management of institutional Funds Act, as adopted in Michigan, 
permits the Board of Regents to appropriate an amount of realized and unrealized endowment appreciation as 
determined to be prudent. the university’s policy is to retain net realized and unrealized appreciation with the 
endowment after spending rule distributions. net appreciation of permanent endowment funds, which totaled 
$808,000,000 and $1,492,000,000 at June 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively, is available to meet spending rate 
distributions and is recorded in restricted expendable net assets. the university’s endowment spending rule is 
further discussed in note 2. 

Student tuition and residence fees are presented net of scholarships and fellowships applied to student accounts, 
while stipends and other payments made directly to students are presented as scholarship and fellowship ex-
penses. 
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Patient care revenues are reported net of contractual allowances. Patient care services are primarily provided 
through the university of Michigan health System, which includes the hospitals and health centers, the Faculty 
group Practice of the university of Michigan Medical School, and the Michigan health corporation. Patient 
care services are also provided through university health Services, which provides health care services to students, 
faculty and staff, and dental Faculty Associates, which provides dental care services performed by faculty dentists. 

other auxiliary enterprise revenues primarily represent revenues generated by intercollegiate athletics, parking, 
student unions, university press and student publications.

the university’s policy for defining operating activities as reported on the statement of revenues, expenses and 
changes in net assets are those that generally result from exchange transactions such as payments received for pro-
viding services and payments made for services or goods received. nearly all of the university’s expenses are from 
exchange transactions. certain significant revenue streams relied upon for operations are recorded as nonoperat-
ing revenues, as defined by gASB, including state appropriations, gifts and investment income.

the preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the unit-
ed States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported in 
the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. the most 
significant areas that require management estimates relate to self-insurance and benefits obligations.

Revision: the statement of net assets as of June 30, 2008 has been revised to reflect a debt classification adjust-
ment that was not recorded in the previously issued financial statements due to immateriality. the university has 
historically presented debt with remarketing features as noncurrent liabilities based on scheduled maturities. in 
connection with the preparation of the June 30, 2009 financial statements, the university determined that pur-
suant to gASB interpretation no. 1, long-term debt subject to remarketing arrangements should be shown as a 
current liability unless the debtor has entered into a take-out agreement or has available lines of credit sufficient to 
refinance that debt on a long-term basis. the following table summarizes the effect on the statement of net assets 
for the correction of this immaterial error: 

 

 As originally   

(in thousands) reported Adjustments As adjusted 

Long-term bonds payable to subject to

  remarketing, net $  – $  706,870 $  706,870

Bonds payable $ 1,069,278 $ (706,870) $ 362,408

New Accounting Pronouncements: in June 2007, the gASB issued Statement no. 51, Accounting and Finan-
cial Reporting for Intangible Assets, effective for the university’s fiscal year beginning July 1, 2009. this Statement 
requires capitalization of identifiable intangible assets in the statement of net assets and provides guidance for 
amortization of intangible assets unless they are considered to have an indefinite useful life.

in June 2008, the gASB issued Statement no. 53, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Derivative Instruments, 
effective for the university’s fiscal year beginning July 1, 2009. this Statement requires derivative instruments 
to be reported at fair value. in addition, for derivative instruments that qualify as effective hedges, changes in 
fair value will be reported as deferrals in the statement of net assets, while changes in the fair value of derivative 
instruments that do not qualify as an effective hedge, including investment derivative instruments, will be re-
ported as investment income. this Statement also requires additional disclosures about the university’s derivative 
instruments. 

the university is evaluating the effect that these Statements will have on its financial statements.
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notes to consolidated Financial Statements

notE 2 | cASH And InvEStmEntS
Summary: the university maintains centralized management for substantially all of its cash and investments. 
With the exception of certain insurance reserves, charitable remainder trusts and other funds whose terms require 
separate management, the university invests its cash reserves and relatively short duration assets in the university 
investment Pool. the university also collectively invests substantially all of the assets of its endowment funds 
(university endowment Fund) together with a portion of its insurance and benefits reserves, charitable remainder 
trusts and gift annuity program in the long term Portfolio. 

the university investment Pool is invested together with the university’s insurance and other benefit reserves in 
the daily and Monthly Portfolios, which are principally invested in investment-grade money market securities, 
u.S. government and other fixed income securities and absolute return strategies. Balances in the university in-
vestment Pool are primarily for operating expenses and capital projects. the funding for capital projects remains 
in current operating investments until amounts for specific capital projects are transferred for capital activities.

the longer investment horizon of the long term Portfolio allows for an equity-oriented strategy to achieve higher 
expected returns over time, and permits the use of less liquid alternative investments, providing for equity diver-
sification beyond the stock markets. the long term Portfolio includes investments in domestic and non-u.S. 
stocks and bonds, commingled funds and limited partnerships consisting of venture capital, private equity, real 
estate, energy and absolute return strategies.

Authorizations: the university’s investment policies are governed and authorized by university Bylaws and the 
Board of Regents. the approved asset allocation policy for the long term Portfolio sets a general target of 80 
percent equities and 20 percent fixed income securities, within a permitted range of 65 to 90 percent for equities 
and 10 to 35 percent for fixed income securities. Since diversification is a fundamental risk management strategy, 
the long term Portfolio is broadly diversified within these general categories.

distributions are made from the university endowment Fund to the university entities that benefit from the 
endowment fund. the endowment spending rule provides for an annual distribution of 5 percent of the one-
quarter lagged moving average fair value of fund units, limited to 5.3 percent of the current fair value to protect 
endowment principal in the event of a prolonged market downturn. effective July 1, 2006, the moving average 
period was extended from three years to four years, and it was extended by one quarter each subsequent quarter 
until it reached seven years at June 30, 2009. distributions are also made from the university investment Pool to 
university entities based on the 90-day u.S. treasury Bill rate. the university’s costs to administer and grow the 
university endowment Fund and university investment Pool are funded by investment returns. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents: cash and cash equivalents, which totaled $358,373,000 and $495,137,000 at June 
30, 2009 and 2008, respectively, represent short-term money market investments in mutual funds, overnight col-
lective funds managed by the university’s custodian or short-term highly liquid investments registered as securi-
ties and held by the university or its agents in the university’s name. the university had actual cash balances in 
its bank accounts in excess of Federal deposit insurance corporation limits in the amount of $10,788,000 and 
$17,667,000 at June 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively. the university does not require deposits to be collateral-
ized or insured.
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(in thousands)  2009   2008

Cash equivalents, noncurrent $ 181,564 $ 239,043

Fixed income securities  1,261,477  1,663,408

Commingled funds  1,399,681  2,050,114

Equity securities  781,719  1,171,267

Nonmarketable alternative investments  3,502,987  4,136,925

Other investments  6,125  7,161

 $  7,133,553 $  9,267,918

the university’s investment strategy, like that of most other institutions, incorporates certain financial instru-
ments that involve, to varying degrees, elements of market risk and credit risk in excess of amounts recorded 
in the financial statements. Market risk is the potential for changes in the value of financial instruments due to 
market changes, including interest and foreign exchange rate movements and fluctuations embodied in forwards, 
futures, and commodity or security prices. Market risk is directly impacted by the volatility and liquidity of the 
markets in which the underlying assets are traded. credit risk is the possibility that a loss may occur due to the 
failure of a counterparty to perform according to the terms of the contract. the university’s risk of loss in the 
event of a counterparty default is typically limited to the amounts recognized in the statement of net assets and is 
not represented by the contract or notional amounts of the instruments.

Fixed income securities have inherent financial risks, including credit risk and interest rate risk. credit risk for 
fixed income securities is the risk that the issuer will not fulfill its obligations. nationally recognized statistical 
rating organizations (“nSRos”), such as Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s, assign credit ratings to security issues 
and issuers that indicate a measure of potential credit risk to investors. Fixed income securities considered invest-
ment grade are those rated at least Baa by Moody’s and BBB by Standard & Poor’s. to manage credit risk, the 
university specifies minimum average and minimum absolute quality nSRo ratings for securities held pursuant 
to its management agreements. 

the university minimizes concentration of credit risk, the risk of a large loss attributed to the magnitude of the 
investment in a single issuer of fixed income securities, by diversifying its fixed income issues and issuers and hold-
ing u.S. treasury securities which are considered to have no credit risk. the university also manages this risk at 
the account level by limiting each fixed income manager’s holding of any non-u.S. government issuer to 5 percent 
of the value of the investment account.

interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of fixed income securi-
ties. effective duration, a commonly used measure of interest rate risk, incorporates a security’s yield, coupon, 
final maturity, call features and other imbedded options into one number expressed in years that indicates how 
price-sensitive a security or portfolio of securities is to changes in interest rates. the effective duration of a secu-
rity or portfolio indicates the approximate percentage change in fair value expected for a one percent change in 
interest rates. the longer the duration, the more sensitive the security or portfolio is to changes in interest rates. 
the weighted average effective duration of the university’s fixed income securities was 5.0 years at June 30, 2009, 
compared to 4.7 years at June 30, 2008. the university manages the effective duration of its fixed income securi-
ties at the account level; fixed income managers generally may not deviate from the duration of their respective 
benchmarks by more than 25 percent. 

Investments: At June 30, 2009 and 2008, the university’s investments, which are held by the university or its 
agents in the university’s name, are summarized as follows:
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2009

   Non-

 U.S. Investment Investment   Duration

(in thousands) Government Grade Grade Not Rated Total (in years)

U.S. Treasury $ 67,363       $ 67,363 6.3

U.S. Treasury inflation

   protected  306,078        306,078 2.3

U.S. Government agency  88,632        88,632 1.3

Mortgage backed   $ 40,293 $ 9,979    50,272 1.5

Asset backed     54,384  3,296    57,680 4.6

Corporate and other     641,313   39,693 $  10,446  691,452 6.8

 $ 462,073 $ 735,990 $ 52,968 $ 10,446 $  1,261,477 5.0

notE 2 | cASH And InvEStmEntS | continued
the composition of fixed income securities at June 30, 2009 and 2008, along with credit quality and effective 
duration measures, is summarized as follows:

notes to consolidated Financial Statements

 
2008

   Non-

 U.S. Investment Investment   Duration

(in thousands) Government Grade Grade Not Rated Total (in years)

U.S. Treasury $ 70,900       $   70,900  3.6

U.S. Treasury inflation

   protected  489,523        489,523 4.4

U.S. Government agency  126,522        126,522 1.6

Mortgage backed   $  123,464      123,464 2.7

Asset backed    56,035   $   3  56,038 5.7

Corporate and other    773,542 $  22,960  459  796,961 5.8

 $ 686,945 $ 953,041 $  22,960 $  462 $  1,663,408 4.7

of the university’s fixed income securities, 95 percent and 99 percent were rated investment grade or better at 
June 30, 2009 and 2008, with 44 percent and 57 percent of these securities rated AAA/Aaa or better at June 30, 
2009 and 2008, respectively.
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commingled (pooled) funds include Securities and exchange commission regulated mutual funds and externally 
managed funds, limited partnerships, and corporate structures which are generally unrated and unregulated. 
certain commingled funds, which are held in the long term and Monthly Portfolios, may use derivatives, short 
positions and leverage as part of their investment strategy. these investments are structured to limit the univer-
sity’s risk exposure to the amount of invested capital. the composition of commingled funds at June 30, 2009 
and 2008 is summarized as follows:

 
(in thousands)  2009  2008

Absolute return $ 743,480 $ 1,177,265

U.S. equities  67,080  152,614

Non-U.S./global equities  525,366  644,542

U.S. fixed income  8,452  54,350

Other  55,303  21,343

 $  1,399,681 $  2,050,114

 
(in thousands)  2009   2008

Private equity $  849,529 $  1,074,706

Real estate  836,498  969,778

Absolute return  737,541  741,348

Energy  613,981  849,458

Venture capital   465,438  501,635

 $  3,502,987 $  4,136,925

commingled funds have liquidity (redemption) provisions, which enable the university to make full or partial 
withdrawals with notice, subject to restrictions on the timing and amount.  of the university’s commingled funds 
at June 30, 2009, approximately 80 percent are redeemable within one year, with 44 percent redeemable within 
90 days. the remaining 20 percent of commingled funds are redeemable beyond one year, with redemption of 
certain funds dependent on disposition of the underlying assets. 

nonmarketable alternative investments consist of limited partnerships involving an advance commitment of capi-
tal called by the general partner as needed and distributions of capital and return on invested capital as underlying 
strategies are concluded during the life of the partnership. the composition of these partnerships at June 30, 2009 
and 2008 is summarized as follows:

While the university’s limited partnership investments are diversified in terms of manager selection and industry 
and geographic focus, one energy partnership represented 6 percent, or $540,000,000, of total investments at 
June 30, 2008. the university’s committed but unpaid obligation to these limited partnerships is further dis-
cussed in note 12.

Absolute return strategies in the commingled funds and nonmarketable alternative investments classifications 
include long/short stock programs, merger arbitrage, intra-capital structure arbitrage and distressed debt invest-
ments. the goal of absolute return strategies is to provide, in aggregate, a return that is consistently positive and 
uncorrelated with the overall market.

the university participates in non-u.S. developed and emerging markets through commingled funds invested 
in non-u.S./global equities and absolute return strategies. Although substantially all of these funds are reported 
in u.S. dollars, both price changes of the underlying securities in local markets and changes to the value of local 
currencies relative to the u.S. dollar are embedded in the investment returns. the university’s investments also 
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include securities denominated in foreign currencies, which must be settled in local (non-u.S.) currencies. For-
ward foreign currency contracts are typically used to manage the risk related to fluctuations in currency exchange 
rates between the time of purchase or sale and the actual settlement of foreign securities. Various investment 
managers acting for the university also use forward foreign exchange contracts in risk-based transactions to carry 
out their portfolio strategies.

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that investments denominated in foreign currencies may lose value due to adverse 
fluctuations in the value of the u.S. dollar relative to foreign currencies. the value of the university’s non-u.S. 
dollar holdings net of forward foreign exchange contracts was $793,952,000, or 11 percent of total investments at 
June 30, 2009, compared to $1,324,618,000, or 14 percent of total investments at June 30, 2008. the university 
manages foreign exchange risk through manager agreements that provide minimum diversification and maximum 
exposure limits by country and currency.

the daily and Monthly Portfolios held positions in bond futures at June 30, 2009 and 2008, while the long 
term Portfolio held positions in stock index futures at June 30, 2008. Bond futures are used to adjust the dura-
tion of cash equivalents and the fixed income portion of the portfolios. Stock index futures were used to over-
lay cash equivalents and more closely align the portfolios’ asset class exposures with asset allocation targets. to 
meet trading margin requirements, the university had u.S. government securities and cash with a fair value of 
$3,889,000 and $29,373,000 at June 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively, on deposit with its futures contract broker 
as collateral.

the long term Portfolio and the Monthly Portfolio, together, had fully collateralized short-term securities loans 
of $234,288,000 and $377,025,000 at June 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively, through a securities lending pro-
gram administered by the university’s master custodian. At loan inception, an approved borrower must deliver 
collateral of cash, securities or letters of credit to the university’s lending agent equal to 102 percent for domestic 
securities and 105 percent for foreign securities. collateral positions are monitored daily to insure that borrowed 
securities are never less than 100 percent collateralized. the fair value of the collateral totaled $241,092,000, or 
103 percent of the fair value of the securities on loan, at June 30, 2009, as compared to $393,361,000, or 104 per-
cent of the fair value of the securities on loan, at June 30, 2008. neither the university nor its securities lending 
agent has the ability to pledge or sell collateral securities unless a borrower defaults. Securities loans may be ter-
minated upon notice by either the university or the borrower. Since the university does not control the securities 
lending collateral, the related assets and liabilities are not recorded in the accompanying financial statements.

notE 3 | AccountS rEcEIvAbLE
the composition of accounts receivable at June 30, 2009 and 2008 is summarized as follows:

notes to consolidated Financial Statements

 
(in thousands)  2009   2008

Patient care $  355,395 $  362,323

Sponsored programs  72,001  66,800

State appropriations, educational and capital  68,865  78,326

Student accounts  21,118  18,383

Other  33,568  31,593

  550,947  557,425

Less provision for uncollectible accounts receivable  116,149  114,050

 $  434,798 $  443,375
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the composition of notes and pledges receivable at June 30, 2009 and 2008 is summarized as follows:

 
(in thousands)  2009   2008

Notes:

  Federal student loan programs $  99,710 $  99,464

  University student loan funds  19,753  18,837

  Other  761  729

  120,224  119,030

  Less allowance for doubtfully collectible notes  2,800  2,800

    Total notes receivable, net  117,424  116,230

  

Gift pledges outstanding:  

  Capital  123,976  137,270

  Operations  62,329  77,570

  186,305  214,840

  Less:  

    Allowance for doubtfully collectible pledges  7,114  6,843

    Unamortized discount to present value  12,737  16,823

      Total pledges receivable, net  166,454  191,174

  

Total notes and pledges receivable, net  283,878  307,404

Less current portion  64,055  73,832

 $  219,823 $  233,572

 
2010 $  54,314

2011–2014  107,627

2015 and after  24,364

 $  186,305

the principal repayment and interest rate terms of federal and university loans vary considerably. the allowance 
for doubtfully collectible notes only applies to university funded notes and the university portion of federal 
student loans, as the university is not obligated to fund the federal portion of uncollected student loans. Federal 
loan programs are funded principally with federal advances to the university under the Perkins and various health 
professions loan programs.

Payments on pledges receivable at June 30, 2009 are expected to be received in the following years ended June 
30 (in thousands):

As discussed in note 1, permanent endowment pledges do not meet eligibility requirements, as defined by gASB, 
until the related gift is received. Accordingly, permanent endowment pledges totaling approximately $91,587,000 
and $105,467,000 at June 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively, are not recognized as assets in the accompanying 
financial statements. in addition, bequest intentions and other conditional promises are not recognized as assets 
until the specified conditions are met because of uncertainties with regard to their realizability and valuation.
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2009

 Beginning    Ending

(in thousands) Balance Additions Retirements Balance

Land $   88,893 $  324   $  89,217

Land improvements  96,399  1,344    97,743

Infrastructure  185,163  15,108    200,271

Buildings  4,702,944  413,893 $    4,189  5,112,648

Construction in progress  646,908  139,572    786,480

Property held for future use    114,029    114,029

Equipment  1,414,315  137,215  42,231  1,509,299

Library materials  405,928  22,681    428,609

  7,540,550  844,166  46,420  8,338,296

Less accumulated depreciation  3,410,720  341,462  41,384  3,710,798

 $  4,129,830 $ 502,704 $ 5,036 $  4,627,498

notE 5 | cApItAL ASSEtS
capital assets activity for the years ended June 30, 2009 and 2008 is summarized as follows:

 
2008

 Beginning      Ending

(in thousands) Balance Additions Retirements Balance

Land $ 81,808 $ 7,085   $  88,893

Land improvements  93,887  2,512    96,399

Infrastructure  164,091  21,072    185,163

Buildings  4,481,092  231,888 $ 10,036  4,702,944

Construction in progress  348,891  298,017    646,908

Equipment  1,345,544  120,039  51,268  1,414,315

Library materials  386,020  19,908    405,928

  6,901,333  700,521  61,304  7,540,550

Less accumulated depreciation  3,145,935  319,351  54,566  3,410,720

 $  3,755,398 $  381,170 $  6,738 $  4,129,830

the increase in construction in progress of $139,572,000 in 2009 represents the amount of capital expenditures 
for new projects of $556,578,000 net of capital assets placed in service of $417,006,000. the increase in con-
struction in progress of $298,017,000 in 2008 represents the amount of capital expenditures for new projects of 
$472,012,000 net of capital assets placed in service of $173,995,000.  

Property held for future use represents the north campus Research complex. the university acquired this prop-
erty in June 2009 for approximately $114,000,000, including liabilities assumed in the purchase. committees 
with campus-wide representation are in the process of developing a strategy for the optimum utilization of this 
complex, which includes 30 buildings and 174 acres of land adjacent to the university’s north campus.

notes to consolidated Financial Statements
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notE 6 | LonG-tErm dEbt 
long-term debt at June 30, 2009 and 2008 is summarized as follows: 

* Denotes variable rate at June 30, 2009

 
(in thousands)  2009   2008
Commercial Paper:
   Tax-exempt, variable rate (.34%)* $  96,070  $  129,825
   Taxable, variable rate (.35%)*  6,435   6,760
General Revenue Bonds:
  Series 2009A, 2.00% to 5.00% through 2029  98,555 
  Series 2009B, variable rate (.28%)* through 2039  118,710 
    unamortized premium  8,150
  Series 2009D,  taxable – Build America Bonds,     
    5.155% to 6.172% through 2030  89,815   
 Series 2008A, variable rate (.19%)* through 2038  105,810   105,810
 Series 2008B, variable rate (.17%)* to fixed via swap through 2026  116,800   118,335
    and variable rate 2027 through 2028  
 Series 2005A, 5.00% through 2018  30,430   34,315
    unamortized premium   1,955   2,498
    unamortized loss on extinguishment  (241)  (316)
 Series 2005B, variable rate (.17%)* through 2009  46,070   48,020
 Series 2002,  variable rate (.25%)* to fixed via swap through 2018
    and variable rate 2019 through 2032  112,845   119,900
General Revenue Refunding Bonds:
 Series 2003, 3.50% to 5.00% through 2015  23,850   29,395
    unamortized premium  1,031   1,552
    unamortized loss on extinguishment  (184)  (281)
Hospital Revenue Bonds:
  Series 2007A, variable rate (.18%)* through 2038  50,120   50,120
  Series 2007B, variable rate (.17%)* through 2038  100,235   100,235
  Series 2005A, variable rate (.28%)* through 2036  69,315   69,315
  Series 2005B, variable rate (.25%)* to fixed via swap through 2026  71,940   75,065
  Series 1995A, variable rate (.20%)* through 2028  100,000   100,000
Hospital Revenue Refunding Bonds:
  Series 2002A, 5.00% to 5.25% through 2022  49,095   58,325
    unamoritized premium  946   1,279
    unamoritized loss on extinguishment  (2,036)  (2,342) 
  Series 1998A2, variable rate (.28%)* to fixed via swap through 2025  44,670   44,670
  Series 1992A, variable rate (.28%)* through 2020  56,000   56,000
Medical Service Plan Revenue Bonds:
  Series 1995A, variable rate (.20%)* through 2028  48,200   48,800
  Series 1991, 6.90% to 7.05% capital appreciation through 2012  5,945   7,674
Medical Service Plan Revenue Refunding Bonds:  
  Series 1998A-1, variable rate (.28%)* to fixed via swap through 2022  34,695   35,030
Housing Energy Conservation HUD Loan, 3.00% through 2021  2,090   2,233
  1,487,316   1,242,217 
Less: 
  Commercial paper and current portion of bonds payable  178,690   172,939
  Long-term bonds payable subject to remarketing, net  652,285   706,870
 $  656,341  $   362,408
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notE 6 | LonG-tErm dEbt | continued
long-term debt activity, and the type of revenue it is supported by, for the year ended June 30, 2009 is  
summarized as follows: 

 

 Beginning     Ending

(in thousands) Balance Additions Reductions Balance

Commercial Paper:

  General revenues $  136,585 $  21,210 $  55,290 $  102,505

Bonds and Notes:    

  General revenues   459,228  315,230  20,862  753,596

  Hospital revenues  552,667    12,382  540,285

  Faculty Group Practice revenues  91,504  471  3,135  88,840

  Student residences revenues  2,233    143  2,090

 $  1,242,217 $  336,911 $  91,812 $  1,487,316

 
(in thousands)  Principal   Interest*  Total

2010 $  177,383 $   16,733 $   194,116

2011  32,185  16,234  48,419

2012  45,727  15,188  60,915

2013  51,051  13,819  64,870

2014  46,151  12,701  58,852

2015-2019  237,321  54,639  291,960

2020-2024  261,447  36,235  297,682

2025-2029  274,860  16,383  291,243

2030-2034  189,265  3,443  192,708

2035-2039  162,305  885  163,190

   1,477,695 $  186,260 $  1,663,955

Plus unamortized premiums, net  9,621

 $  1,487,316

* Interest on variable rate debt is estimated based on rates in effect at June 30, 2009

the university maintains a combination of variable and fixed rate debt, with effective interest rates that aver-
aged 2.21 percent in 2009 and 3.40 percent in 2008. the university utilizes commercial paper to provide in-
terim financing for its capital improvement program. the Board of Regents has authorized the issuance of up to 
$150,000,000 in commercial paper backed by a general revenue pledge. outstanding commercial paper debt is 
converted to long-term debt financing, as appropriate, within the normal course of business.

during 2009, the university issued $307,080,000 of general Revenue Bonds with a net original issue premium 
of $8,150,000. Bond proceeds were used to convert $50,520,000 of commercial paper to long-term debt and 
provide $218,117,000 for capital projects and $523,000 for debt issuance costs. Bond proceeds will also be used 
to refund $46,070,000 of Series 2005B general Revenue Bonds in July 2009. the total bond issue includes 
$98,555,000 (Series 2009A) of fixed rate bonds, $118,710,000 (Series 2009B) of variable rate bonds based on a 
commercial paper rate mode and $89,815,000 (Series 2009d) of fixed rate taxable Build America Bonds.

debt obligations are generally callable by the university and mature at various dates through fiscal 2039. Prin-
cipal maturities and interest on debt obligations for the next five years and in subsequent five-year periods are as 
follows:
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the university also has a $200,000,000 line of credit to provide short-term liquidity for up to five days. the uni-
versity’s available lines of credit and standby bond purchase agreement were entirely unused at June 30, 2009. 

in connection with the Series 2008B general Revenue Bonds, the university entered into a floating-to-fixed 
interest rate swap agreement with a notional value covering a portion of the principal amount outstanding, 
$98,490,000 at June 30, 2009 and 2008, and decreasing as principal on the underlying bonds is repaid. the 
swap agreement converts the floating variable rate on these bonds to a fixed rate of 3.105 percent until the swap 
terminates in April 2026. the university makes fixed rate payments to the counterparty and receives a variable 
rate payment based on 68 percent of the one-Month uSd liBoR. the university has the option to terminate 
the swap upon five business days written notice and payment of the fair market compensation for the value of 
the swap.

in connection with the issuance of the Series 2005B hospital Revenue Bonds, the university entered into a 
floating-to-fixed interest rate swap agreement for a notional amount tied to the outstanding balance of the bonds. 
the swap agreement converts the floating variable rate on these bonds to a fixed rate of 3.229 percent commenc-
ing december 2005 through december 2025, the final maturity of the underlying bonds. the university makes 
fixed rate interest payments to the counterparty and receives a variable rate payment based on 68 percent of the 
one-Month uSd liBoR. the university has the option to terminate the swap upon five business days written 
notice and payment of the fair market compensation for the value of the swap.

in connection with the Series 2002 general Revenue Bonds, the university entered into a floating-to-fixed inter-
est swap agreement with a notional value covering a portion of the principal amount outstanding, $58,215,000 
at June 30, 2009 and 2008, and decreasing as principal on the underlying bonds is repaid. the swap agreement 
converts the floating variable rate on these bonds to a fixed rate of 3.5375 percent until the swap terminates in 
April 2018. the university makes fixed rate payments to the counterparty and receives a variable rate payment 
based on 68 percent of one-Month uSd liBoR through April 1, 2009 and 63 percent of the Five-Year uSd 
liBoR Swap Rate for the balance of the term. the university has the option to terminate the swap upon five 
business days written notice and payment of the fair market compensation for the value of the swap.

in connection with the issuance of the Series 1998A-2 hospital Revenue Refunding Bonds and the Series 1998A-1 
Medical Service Plan Revenue Refunding Bonds, the university entered into floating-to-fixed interest rate swap 
agreements for notional amounts tied to the outstanding balance of the bonds. the swap agreements convert the 
floating variable rates on these hospital and Medical Service Plan bonds to fixed rates of 4.705 percent and 4.685 
percent, through december 2024 and december 2021, respectively, the final maturity dates of the underlying 

the variable rate portion of bonds payable have remarketing features which allow bondholders to put debt back 
to the university.  Accordingly, variable rate bonds payable are classified as current unless supported by long-term 
liquidity agreements, such as lines of credit or standby bond purchase agreements, which can refinance the debt 
on a long-term basis. the classification of the university’s variable rate bonds payable at June 30, 2009 and 2008 
is summarized as follows:

 
(in thousands)  2009   2008

Variable rate bonds payable subject to remarketing $  1,075,410 $  971,300

Less:    

  Current principal maturities  57,920  14,430

  Long-term liquidity agreements:    

    Unsecured lines of credit   250,000  250,000 

    Standby bond purchase agreement for Series 2008B 

      General Revenue Bonds  115,205

Long-term bonds payable subject to remarketing, net $  652,285 $  706,870
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bonds. the university makes fixed interest payments to the counterparty and receives a variable rate payment 
based on the floating Securities industry and Financial Markets Association (SiFMA) Municipal index. the 
counterparty has the option of terminating the swaps if for any 180-day period the average variable rate is more 
than 7.0 percent.

the estimated fair value of the interest rate swaps was a liability of $25,637,000 at June 30, 2009 and a liability of 
$11,612,000 at June 30, 2008. the fair value represents the estimated amount that the university would pay to 
terminate the swap agreements at the statement of net assets date, taking into account current interest rates and 
creditworthiness of the underlying counterparty. in accordance with governmental accounting standards, these 
amounts are not required to be included in the accompanying financial statements.

notE 7 | SELF-InSurAncE
the university is self-insured for medical malpractice, workers’ compensation, directors and officers’ liability, 
property damage, auto liability and general liability through Veritas insurance corporation, a wholly-owned 
captive insurance company. the university is also self-insured for various employee benefits through internally 
maintained funds.

claims and expenses are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of the loss can be 
reasonably estimated. those losses include an estimate of claims that have been incurred but not reported and 
the future costs of handling claims. these liabilities are generally based on actuarial valuations and are reported at 
present value, discounted at a rate of 6 percent.

changes in the total reported liability for insurance and benefits obligations for the years ended June 30, 2009 
and 2008 are summarized as follows:

notes to consolidated Financial Statements

 
(in thousands)  2009   2008

Balance, beginning of year $  142,565 $  141,202

Claims incurred and changes in estimates  360,002  220,493

Claim payments  (349,522)  (219,130)

Balance, end of year  153,045  142,565

Less current portion  67,133  64,117

 $   85,912 $  78,448

notE 8 | poStEmpLoymEnt bEnEFItS
the university provides retiree health and welfare benefits, primarily medical, prescription drug, dental and life 
insurance coverage, to eligible retirees and their eligible dependents. Substantially all of the approximately 34,000 
permanent university employees may become eligible for these benefits if they reach retirement age while work-
ing for the university. For employees retiring on or after January 1, 1987, contributions toward health and welfare 
benefits are shared between the university and the retiree and can vary based on date of hire, date of retirement, 
age and coverage elections. 

the university also provides income replacement benefits, retirement savings contributions and health and life 
insurance benefits to substantially all permanent university employees who are enrolled in a university sponsored 
long-term disability plan and qualify, based on disability status while working for the university, to receive basic 
or expanded long-term disability benefits.  contributions toward the expanded long-term disability plan are 
shared between the university and employees and vary based on years of service, annual base salary and coverage 
elections. contributions toward the basic long-term disability plan are paid entirely by the university.
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these postemployment benefits are provided through single-employer plans administered by the university. the ex-
ecutive Vice Presidents of the university have the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions of the plans. 

during 2008, the university implemented gASB Statement no. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Em-
ployers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. this Statement requires accrual-based measurement and 
recognition of the cost of postemployment benefits during the periods when employees render their services. 
Previously, the university recognized obligations for most postemployment benefits as they were paid. 

the university’s annual postemployment benefits expense is actuarially determined in accordance with the pa-
rameters of gASB Statement no. 45. Projections of benefits are based on the substantive plan (the plan as under-
stood by the employer and the plan members) and include the types of benefits provided and announced future 
changes at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the employer 
and plan members to that point. 

the university elected to amortize its initial unfunded actuarial accrued liability over one year, the minimum 
period allowed by gASB Statement no. 45. the university also elected to amortize subsequent changes in ac-
tuarial assumptions, plan design, and experience gains and losses over a ten year closed period. therefore, the 
net oPeB obligation recorded in the statement of financial condition will differ from the actuarial accrued li-
ability by the unamortized portion of changes in actuarial assumptions, plan design, and experience gains and 
losses. At June 30, 2009, the net oPeB obligation and the actuarial accrued liability totaled $1,562,970,000 and 
$1,167,457,000, respectively.  

changes in the total reported liability for postemployment benefits obligations for the years ended June 30, 2009 
and 2008 are summarized as follows:

 
 2009

 Retiree Health   Long-term  

(in thousands) and Welfare  Disability Total 

Balance, beginning of year $   1,360,175 $  131,638 $ 1,491,813  

Annual required contribution:    

   Service cost  49,749  5,439  55,188  

   Amortization of assumption changes  

     and actuarial (gains) losses  (28,941)  328  (28,613)  

Interest cost  87,051  10,531  97,582

Payments of current premiums and claims  (39,234)  (13,766)  (53,000)

Balance, end of year   1,428,800  134,170  1,562,970

Less current portion   42,287  16,114  58,401  

 $  1,386,513 $ 118,056 $  1,504,569

 
 2008

 Retiree Health   Long-term  

(in thousands) and Welfare  Disability Total 

Balance, beginning of year $   4,749 $  82,938 $ 87,687  

Annual required contribution:    

   One-time amortization of total unfunded     

      actuarially accrued liability at July 1, 2007  1,259,125  47,734  1,306,859 

   Service cost    55,200  5,110  60,310  

Interest cost  79,620  10,454  90,074

Payments of current premiums and claims  (38,519)  (14,598)  (53,117)

Balance, end of year   1,360,175  131,638  1,491,813

Less current portion   45,514  15,278  60,792  

 $  1,314,661 $ 116,360 $  1,431,021
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notE 8 | poStEmpLoymEnt bEnEFItS | continued
Since a portion of retiree medical services will be provided by the university’s health System, the liability for 
postemployment benefit obligations is net of the related margin and fixed costs of providing those services which 
totaled $198,665,000 of actuarial accrued liability at June 30, 2009 and $201,294,000 at June 30, 2008. in ac-
cordance with gASB Statement no. 45, the university’s liability for postemployment benefit obligations at June 
30, 2009 is not reduced by the anticipated Medicare Retiree drug Subsidy for future periods of $143,000,000 
on an actuarial accrued liability basis. 

the annual required contribution represents a level of funding that an employer is projected to need in or-
der to prefund its obligations for postemployment benefits over its employees’ years of service. the university 
has no obligation to make contributions in advance of when insurance premiums or claims are due for pay-
ment and currently pays for postemployment benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis. the university’s obligations for 
postemployment benefits at June 30, 2009 and 2008 as a percentage of covered payroll of $2,456,343,000 and 
$2,311,422,000, was 64 and 65 percent, respectively.

the university’s liability for postemployment benefits obligations was calculated using the projected unit credit 
method. Significant actuarial methods and assumptions used in the valuation for years ended June 30, 2009 and 
2008 are as follows:

 
2009

    

 Retiree Health and Welfare Long-term Disability

Discount Rate 6.4% 8.0%

Inflation Rate 3.0% 3.0%  

Immediate/Ultimate Medical Trend Rate 9.0%/5.0% 9.0%/5.0%  

Immediate/Ultimate Rx Trend Rate 8.0%/5.0% 8.0%/5.0% 

Expected Retirement Age (Faculty/Staff/Union) 66/62/61 Not Applicable 

Mortality/Termination Table RP-2000 Projected to 2015 2005 SOA Life Waiver (Modified) 

 
2008

    

 Retiree Health and Welfare Long-term Disability

Discount Rate 6.4% 8.0%

Inflation Rate 3.0% 3.0%  

Immediate/Ultimate Medical Trend Rate 11.7%/5.0% 11.7%/5.0%  

Immediate/Ultimate Rx Trend Rate 8.5%/5.0% 8.5%/5.0% 

Expected Retirement Age (Faculty/Staff/Union) 66/62/61 Not Applicable 

Mortality/Termination Table RP-2000 Projected to 2014 2005 SOA Life Waiver (Modified) 
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notE 9 | rEtIrEmEnt pLAn
the university has a defined contribution retirement plan for all qualified employees through the teachers insur-
ance and Annuity Association - college Retirement equities Fund (“tiAA-cReF”) and Fidelity Management 
trust company (“FMtc”) mutual funds. All regular and supplemental instructional and primary staff are eligi-
ble to participate in the plan based upon age and service requirements. Participants maintain individual contracts 
with tiAA-cReF, or accounts with FMtc, and are fully vested.

eligible employees generally contribute 5 percent of their pay and the university generally contributes an amount 
equal to 10 percent of employees’ pay to the plan. Participants may elect to contribute additional amounts to 
the plans within specified limits that are not matched by university contributions. contributions and covered 
payroll under the plan (excluding participants’ additional contributions) for the three years ended June 30, 2009 
are summarized as follows:

 
(in thousands)   2009   2008  2007

University contributions $   208,707 $  194,962 $   183,145

Employee contributions $   102,705 $  96,015 $   90,252

Payroll covered under plan $  2,456,343 $  2,311,422 $  2,172,592

Total payroll $  2,580,373 $  2,444,522 $  2,292,929

notE 10 | unrEStrIctEd nEt ASSEtS
unrestricted net assets, as defined by gASB, are not subject to externally imposed stipulations; however, they are 
subject to internal restrictions. For example, unrestricted net assets may be designated for specific purposes by ac-
tion of management, the Board of Regents, or may otherwise be limited by contractual agreements with outside 
parties. All of the unrestricted net assets, which totaled $1,542,083,000 at June 30, 2009, have been designated 
for academic and research programs and initiatives, and capital programs. 

notE 11 | FEdErAL dIrEct LEndInG proGrAm
the university distributed $298,857,000 and $255,765,000 for the years ended June 30, 2009 and 2008, respec-
tively, for student loans through the u.S. department of education (“doed”) federal direct lending program. 
these distributions and related funding sources are not included as expenses and revenues in the accompanying 
financial statements. the statement of net assets includes a payable of $2,573,000 and $2,026,000 at June 30, 
2009 and 2008, respectively, for doed funding received in advance of distribution. 
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notE 12 | commItmEntS And contInGEncIES
Authorized expenditures for construction and other projects unexpended as of June 30, 2009 were $1,166,956,000. 
of these expenditures, approximately $1,037,263,000 will be funded by internal sources, gifts and future bor-
rowings, $126,053,000 will be funded using unexpended debt proceeds and the remaining $3,640,000 will be 
funded by the State Building Authority.

under the terms of various limited partnership agreements approved by the Board of Regents or by university of-
ficers, the university is obligated to make periodic payments for advance commitments to venture capital, private 
equity, real estate, energy and absolute return strategies. As of June 30, 2009, the university had committed, but 
not paid, a total of $2,758,820,000 in funding for these alternative investments. outstanding commitments for 
such investments are anticipated to be paid in the following years ended June 30 (in thousands):

notes to consolidated Financial Statements

2010 $  642,692
2011  730,900
2012  490,966
2013  251,546 
2014  207,769
2015 and beyond  434,947
 $  2,758,820

2010 $   28,598
2011  22,845
2012  19,869
2013  15,203 
2014  9,563
2015–2019  15,800 
2020–2024  2,966 
2025–2027  1,338
 $  116,182

the university has entered into operating leases for space, which expire at various dates through fiscal 2027. 
outstanding commitments for these leases are expected to be paid in the following years ended June 30 (in 
thousands):

operating lease expenses totaled $32,467,000 and $31,320,000 in 2009 and 2008, respectively. 

Substantial amounts are received and expended by the university under federal and state programs and are subject 
to audit by cognizant governmental agencies. this funding relates to research, student aid, patient care and other 
programs. the university believes that any liabilities arising from such audits will not have a material effect on 
its financial position.

the university is a party to various pending legal actions and other claims in the normal course of business, and 
is of the opinion that the outcome thereof will not have a material adverse effect on its financial position.
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notE 13 | SEGmEnt InFormAtIon
A segment is an identifiable activity reported as a stand-alone entity for which one or more revenue bonds are 
outstanding. A segment has a specific identifiable revenue stream pledged in support of revenue bonds and has 
related expenses, gains and losses, assets and liabilities that are required by an external party to be accounted for 
separately. the university has one segment that meets the reporting requirements of gASB.

the university of Michigan hospitals and health centers (“hhc”) operates several health care facilities and 
programs in southeastern Michigan, providing hospital care, ambulatory care, and other health services. hhc 
serves as the principal teaching facility for the university of Michigan Medical School. the faculty of the Medical 
School provides substantially all physician services to hhc through its Faculty group Practice.

hhc’s outstanding debt, referred to as hospital Revenue Bonds and hospital Revenue Refunding Bonds, was 
issued pursuant to a Master indenture Agreement, dated May 1, 1986. these bonds are solely payable from, and 
secured by, a pledge of hospital gross revenues, as defined in the Master indenture. the university, as permitted 
by the Master indenture, has further defined hospital gross revenues pledged to exclude revenues deemed to be 
associated with the Faculty group Practice.
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(in thousands)  2009   2008

Condensed Statement of Net Assets

Assets:

  Current assets $   415,451 $  396,679

  Noncurrent assets  2,277,025  2,451,429

    Total assets $  2,692,476 $  2,848,108

  

Liabilities:  

  Current liabilities $   415,106 $   387,091

  Noncurrent liabilities  740,061  582,566

    Total liabilities  1,155,167  969,657

Net assets:  

  Invested in capital assets, net of related debt  596,070  538,854

  Restricted  

    Nonexpendable  2,646  2,338

    Expendable  70,262  70,843

  Unrestricted  868,331  1,266,416

    Total net assets  1,537,309  1,878,451

    Total liabilities and net assets $  2,692,476 $  2,848,108

  

Condensed Statement of Revenues, Expenses and 

  Changes in Net Assets  

Operating revenues $  1,836,837  $  1,743,251 

Operating expenses other than depreciation expense  (1,691,520)  (1,584,504)

Depreciation expense  (129,974)  (122,363)

  Operating income  15,343  36,384

Nonoperating expenses, net  (297,293)  (162,036)

Net expenses before transfers  (281,950)  (125,652)

Transfers (to) from other University units, net  (59,192)  7,954

  Decrease in net assets  (341,142)  (117,698)  

Net assets, beginning of year  1,878,451  1,996,149

    Net assets, end of year $  1,537,309 $  1,878,451

  

Condensed Statement of Cash Flows  

Net cash provided by operating activities $   175,354 $   188,792

Net cash provided by investing activities  61,485  92,117

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities  (147,389)  (211,183)

Net cash (used in) provided by noncapital financing activities  (56,187)  4,905

  Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  33,263  74,631

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  157,012  82,381

  Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $   190,275 $   157,012

notes to consolidated Financial Statements

notE 13 | SEGmEnt InFormAtIon | continued
condensed financial information for hhc, before the elimination of certain intra-university transactions, as of 
and for the years ended June 30, 2009 and 2008 is as follows:
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2009

 Compensation Supplies  Scholarships

 and and  and

(in thousands) Benefits Services Depreciation Fellowships Total

Instruction $ 708,171 $ 112,082     $ 820,253 

Research  427,564  195,079      622,643

Public service  86,682  39,782      126,464

Academic support  178,111  46,773      224,884

Student services  66,127  17,063      83,190

Institutional support  134,631  42,452      177,083

Operations and maintenance of plant  43,718  234,166      277,884

Auxiliary enterprises  1,745,466  567,681      2,313,147

Depreciation     $ 341,462    341,462

Scholarships and fellowships       $  107,127  107,127

 $  3,390,470 $ 1,255,078  $  341,462 $  107,127 $ 5,094,137

notE 14 | opErAtInG ExpEnSES by FunctIon
operating expenses by functional classification for the years ended June 30, 2009 and 2008 are summarized as 
follows:

 
2008

 Compensation Supplies  Scholarships

 and and  and

(in thousands) Benefits Services Depreciation Fellowships Total

Instruction $   676,273 $  108,472     $   784,745 

Research  397,464  174,188      571,652

Public service  85,931  35,949      121,880

Academic support  166,489  37,148      203,637

Student services  62,365  16,343      78,708

Institutional support  124,370  41,955      166,325

Operations and maintenance of plant  40,584  208,661      249,245

Auxiliary enterprises  1,680,756  544,900      2,225,656

Depreciation     $  319,351    319,351

Scholarships and fellowships       $  98,847  98,847

 $  3,234,232 $  1,167,616 $  319,351 $  98,847 $  4,820,046
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